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Positive spiral generates 
success and wellbeing

CEO’S REVIEW

We are living amidst a new industrial rev-
olution. In 2017 there were more mobile 
phone subscriptions in the world than 
there were people, and the number of 
internet-connected devices surpassed 
20 billion. Many sectors are experiencing 
disruptive changes that break down old 
structures and create the framework for 
new types of businesses. Finnish compa-
nies have all that is needed to do well in 
the changing competitive climate by capi-
talising on Finland’s advantages – such as 
reliability and a practical approach.

HIGHLY-SPECIALISED companies, in particular, de-
pend on international expansion because of the lim-
ited size of Finland’s domestic market. Digital busi-
ness models enable start-up companies to aim high 
from day one. Investors can help accelerate compa-
nies’ international growth with their experience and 

connections. At Tesi, we call on the support of our 
international network so that we can place the best 
possible expertise at the disposal of Finnish compa-
nies. This produces a positive spiral that generates 
success and wellbeing.

Finland’s venture capital and private equity 
market showed positive development during 2017. 
Established by Tesi and Finnish pension and insur-
ance companies, the fund-of funds KRR III raised 
150 million euros for Finnish venture capital and 
growth funds to invest in companies. We attracted 
new institutional investors on board that, via KRR, 
can accelerate the growth also of smaller compa-
nies than otherwise would be possible. Many Finn-
ish buyout funds raised larger funds than in earlier 
years. New players investing in the growth stage of 
smaller companies have entered or are entering 
the market. Venture capital funds witnessed record 
figures when Inventure raised 110 million euros for 
its third fund.

The high activity level of Asian investors in Fin-
land’s venture capital and private equity market was 
one of the year’s most prominent features. This was 
most visible in direct investments, not yet in fund 
investments. Industrial investors, both Finnish and 
international, were also active in the market. 

TEXT JAN SASSE | PHOTOS JUNNU LUSA
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Although they have always acquired their compet-
itors, now they are looking to acquire a new type 
of expertise and agility by setting their sights on 
growth companies.

Despite the positive performance of the ven-
ture capital and private equity market, we would 
need more international investors into Finnish 
funds. In 2018, Tesi will focus on broadening the 
investor base of Finnish funds with both Finnish and 
international investors. We will work towards this to-
gether with the Finnish Venture Capital Association 
and Tekes Venture Capital.

Long-term collaboration between investors and 
company management has borne fruit: both funds 
and companies in Tesi’s portfolio grew strongly and 
there were numerous exits. This was reflected in 
Tesi’s strong performance in 2017, a profit of 66 
million euros for the year. The positive results of re-
cent years will be directed towards accelerating the 
growth and internationalisation of new companies.

In addition to good returns, we expect re-
sponsibility and socially impactful operations from 

our portfolio companies and funds. We encourage 
companies to shift their focus from reporting more 
towards business opportunities and competitive ad-
vantage gained through corporate responsibility. At 
Slush 2017 many international venture capital inves-
tors talked about their strategy of focusing on busi-
ness ideas that create a positive impact on people’s 
lives. I believe the same attitude is spreading also 
to later-stage investment, although perhaps with a 
slight delay. We want to contribute to helping our 
current and future portfolio companies and funds 
reach the next step of responsible operation.

The exponential growth in data volumes and 
advances in artificial intelligence will enable more 
robust data management in companies. As digiti-
sation progresses, new business opportunities will 
open up, and they will be of very different types. 
Tesi, as a state-owned investment company, wants 
to support Finnish companies through this change. 
In concrete terms, this is evidenced both in the se-
lection of companies and in developing them once 
they are in the portfolio.

CEO’S REVIEW
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The increasing complexity of the world and the 
growth in information volumes can also be seen 
in our own work. We make decisions in the face of 
uncertainty, when the right path is found by working 
through rapid iteration, experimentation, success 
and failure. Our values of finding brave results to-
gether have proven to be an excellent road sign in 
practical decision-making. We are open-minded in 
seeking solutions and we open up opportunities, 
we influence and develop actively and boldly, and 
we create results together. Operating in this way, 

Finnish companies have all that is 
needed to do well in the changing 

competitive environment.

venture capital and private equity will be success-
ful, responsible and fun. Working together is always 
more rewarding than operating alone.

I extend my thanks to companies, funds, all 
our co-investors and partners for such successful 
cooperation during the year. I would also like to 
thank all Tesi’s personnel for the work they have 
done to smooth the path for Finnish companies’ 
growth, financing rounds and exits. Successes give 
us strength to continue our work in a confident and 
bold frame of mind. |

CEO’S REVIEW
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Catalysing capital to Finnish companies

FUNDS

In 2017, Tesi made excellent progress in 
attracting capital to Finnish funds and com-
panies. Fund-raising remained buoyant in 
2017, for both venture capital and buyout 
funds. Tesi and the KRR funds-of-funds are 
major investors in the venture capital and 
private equity sector in Finland. In 2017, 
Tesi raised KRR III with a total capital of € 
150 million.

CONTINUING the trend for the previous year, 2017 
was a brisk year for fund investments. A Finnish ven-
ture capital fund broke the limit of € 100 million for 
the first time in over 15 years when Inventure Fund III 
raised a total € 110 million.

“Inventure’s fund-raising process is a positive in-
dication that investors’ confidence in venture capital 
is returning, although fund-raising for venture capital 
and smaller buyout funds can still not be described 
as easy. On the other hand, the market is starting to 
mature for larger buyout funds, which have raised 
funds quickly and reached their target sizes,” explains 

Director Matias Kaila, who heads Tesi’s Fund Invest-
ment team.

Tesi made commitments totalling € 60 million 
in altogether seven venture capital and small buyout 
funds in 2017. In addition, Tesi made a commitment 
of € 60 million in KRR III, a 
fund-of-funds it manages. 
An estimated one-half of 
KRR’s capital is invested in 
venture capital funds, and 
one-half in small buyout 
funds.

“The KRR funds 
have had great success, 
as demonstrated by the 
fund-raising for the new 
fund. KRR I has progressed to the stage where we are 
seeing solid returns from both venture capital and 
buyout funds. Returns from exits have been good, 
and the funds still have a lot of unrealised value in 
good companies,” says Kaila.

MORE PRIVATE CAPITAL NEEDED
In 2017, Tesi made excellent progress in attracting 
capital to Finnish funds and companies. During the 
year, Tesi and the KRR funds’ portfolio funds raised 
seven times the amount of Tesi’s own investment.

International funds in Tesi’s portfolio invested 

TEXT MAIJA RAUHA | PHOTOS JUNNU LUSA

International 
funds in Tesi’s 
portfolio invest-
ed altogether

€27m
in Finnish com-
panies.
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altogether € 27 million in Finnish companies. Possibly 
of even more value, however, is the expertise that 
they invested in the companies and brought to the 
market.

“Investing in international funds enables us to 
encourage investors already interested in Finland 
and show them a potential deal flow,” Kaila points 
out.

According to Kaila, the priority now is to boost 
private capital. Tesi collaborates with the Finnish Ven-
ture Capital Association and Tekes Venture Capital in 
encouraging small private Finnish players – such as 
pension trusts, industry-wide pension funds, founda-
tions and family investment companies – to invest in 
funds.

“Tesi’s portfolio is developing very favourably 
and exit activity continues to be strong. Venture 
capital investments no longer underperform buyout 
investments in Finland,” Kaila points out.

Tesi will focus even more strongly on attracting 
international capital into venture capital and small 
buyout funds, while continuing to 
support larger growth funds should 
their fund-raising require.

“We also keep our eyes open 
to see if there are other areas in 
which we could help to develop the 
market so that Finnish companies 
can grow and create jobs.”

Kaila predicts that the conven-
tional borders between venture capital and buyout 
funds will continue to be eroded.

“Buyout investors are increasingly aware of the 
opportunities and risks attached to technology. This 
is reflected in the greater interest buyout investors 
have in earlier-stage growth companies,” concludes 
Kaila.

FROM AVOIDING REPUTATION RISKS TO 
SEEKING OPPORTUNITIES
Kaila feels that both private equity investors as well 
as companies have started to think of corporate 
responsibility in a new way. Whereas earlier the 
emphasis was on regulation and avoiding reputation 
risks, the focus has now shifted to business opportu-
nities arising from responsibility.

Private equity funds have often been criticised 
for using tax havens to evade taxes. Tesi’s policy is to 
invest in funds domiciled in countries that exchange 
information and have proper tax agreements in 
place.

“In terms of taxation, private equity funds are 
pass-through entities. The companies backed by 
private equity funds pay their taxes in their country 
of domicile, just as investors do. It is more a way of 
structuring the investments, and not a question of 
avoiding taxes. International fund structures are pre-
ferred because they make it easier for international 
fund investors to invest in funds,” adds Kaila.

Tesi requires all its portfolio 
funds to adopt the principles of re-
sponsible investment, and to apply 
them in practice. In this way Tesi’s 
team can, in its discussions with 
portfolio fund managers, increasing-
ly focus on seeking business oppor-
tunities.

Kaila points out that first-time 
teams’ focus is increasingly on start-ups that solve 
global challenges.

“Responsibility is not perceived as a separate 
function. Instead, it has become an integral part of 
profitable business. It is becoming a business asset, 
and not a reporting burden,” sums up Kaila. |

Venture capital 
investments no 

longer underperform 
buyout investments in 
Finland.

FUNDS
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Growth financing from 
a variety of sources

DIRECT INVESTMENTS

Tesi’s direct portfolio companies developed 
favourably in 2017, boosting their sales by 
an average 22% during the year. Financing 
was available from a diverse range of Finn-
ish and international sources. Tesi made 
new direct investments amounting to € 29 
million in altogether 22 companies.

ONE of the largest financing rounds in 2017, € 25 
million, was raised by open source database devel-
oper MariaDB Corporation, representing the larg-
est-ever growth financing granted to a Nordic com-
pany by the European Investment Bank (EIB). The 
financing came from the European Fund for Strategic 
Investments (EFSI).

In November, MariaDB raised a further € 23 
million led by Chinese AliBaba Cloud. This will enable 
the fast-growing MariaDB to develop new cloud and 
automation solutions and help the company to add 
new features to its databases.

“Loans and guarantees from the European In-

vestment Bank and the European Investment Fund 
have become an important form of debt financing, 
allowing companies to raise loans from Finnish 
banks. More and more companies are also using 
crowd-funding. The diversification of financing sourc-
es has become a fact. Time will tell in which direction 
these relatively new phenomena will lead,” says Heli 
Ahlroos, Tesi’s Director, Venture Capital.

One of the major 
events of the year was 
Valmet Automotive’s 
acquisition of Stock-
holm-listed Semcon’s 
automotive engineering 
operations in Germany 
and testing operations 
in Spain. Valmet Au-
tomotive also formed 
a strategic partnership with Chinese CATL, a lead-
ing global provider of battery and energy storage 
solutions. CATL became a substantial shareholder, 
acquiring a 22% holding in Valmet Automotive.

“These arrangements serve the company’s 
objective of focusing on providing design services to 
the automotive industry while also building a strong 
position in the fast-growing electric vehicle busi-

TEXT MAIJA RAUHA | PHOTOS JUNNU LUSA

Portfolio 
companies’ 
sales grew by an 
average

22 %
during the year.
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ness,” explains Jussi Hattula, Tesi’s Director, Growth 
& Industrial Investments.

Acquisitions are a good way to give companies 
broader shoulders for growth and international ex-
pansion. Another example, in June, was the acqui-
sition by Profit Software of Evolvit Ltd, a company 
specialising in IT services and solutions for finance 
companies. “Companies should dare to take more 
growth leaps through acquisitions ,” comments Ahl-
roos.

Overall, Tesi’s portfolio companies developed 
favourably in 2017, boosting their sales by an aver-
age 22% during the year. On the other hand, in some 
cases the lack of resources with competence in inter-
nationalisation and operational scaling slowed down 
companies’ growth.

ASIAN INVESTORS AND INDUSTRIAL BUYERS 
VERY ACTIVE IN THE MARKET
The high level of activity shown by Asian investors in 
the Finnish venture capital and private equity market 
was one of last year’s biggest trends. The Chinese 
made both more investments and more acquisitions 
in 2017 than in previous years.

“This is a good opportunity for Finnish compa-
nies, because Asian investors bring their expertise 
of operating in Asian markets. In the coming year we 
will analyse more thoroughly how Tesi can promote 
the internationalisation of Finnish companies in Asia, 
and how to raise financing there,” 
says Ahlroos.

In addition to MariaDB and 
Valmet Automotive, Asian and other 
international investors were present 
in many investments and exits of Te-
si’s portfolio companies throughout 
the year. The Chinese CYG acquired a 
holding in OptoFidelity and Rightware 
was sold to the Chinese company 
Thundersoft. Visedo, a specialist in hybrid and elec-
tric drivetrains, was sold to Danfoss, a family-owned 
Danish company. Static dissipation expert IonPhase 
was acquired by the British listed company Croda 
International.

Hattula points out that a private equity investor 
is a temporary owner. Acquisitions tend to be good 

news, because companies can continue their growth 
under the stewardship of new owners. Last year’s 
global upswing favoured sellers, because companies’ 
valuations were high.

“We see many Finnish bioeconomy projects in 
the deal flow right now, and Asian investors have 
shown keen interest in them as well,” says Hattula.

INTEREST FOCUSES ON HEALTH 
TECHNOLOGY AND CLEANTECH
Ahlroos believes that investors are showing increas-
ing interest in growth companies in the IT sector 
that, in one way or another, apply software, artifi-
cial intelligence, analytics or mobile technology to 
healthcare. In 2017, Tesi made two new investments 
in this sector.

BCB Medical specialises in the gathering and 
analysis of clinical and medical data. Using registers 
that support patient data systems allows treatment 
paths to be digitised, enabling comparison of data 
on the quality and impact of treatment. Tesi invest-
ed in BCB Medical together with Swedish Standout 
Capital. With the backing of new owners, BCB Med-
ical plans to export its clinical and treatment data 
solutions.

Led by Swiss Debiopharm Innovation Fund and 
Tesi, bioinformatic solutions provider BC Platforms 
raised € 9 million in financing. The company’s mis-
sion is to be a global leader in providing biobanks, 

the pharmaceutical industry and the 
healthcare sector with a platform for 
managing genomic and clinical data.

Other health technology com-
panies also raised large investment 
rounds in Finland. Ahlroos is very 
pleased with this development be-
cause health technology companies 
have previously faced challenges in 
obtaining financing.

In 2017, Tesi also invested in KotiSun Group, a 
company specialising in renovations of service wa-
ter, heating and drainage systems. The consortium 
formed by CapMan, Tesi and Varma is now a major 
shareholder in the company. KotiSun has also set its 
sights on growth and internationalisation.

The higher 
activity 

level of Asian 
investors was one 
of last year’s biggest 
trends.

DIRECT INVESTMENTS
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RESPONSIBILITY GROWING IN IMPORTANCE 
Tesi wants Finnish companies to grow and succeed, 
while operating responsibly. When screening in-
vestment proposals, Tesi makes an ESG evaluation 
to identify the main risks, opportunities and devel-
opment areas associated with a company’s envi-
ronmental, social and governance impacts. These 
are then addressed in portfolio companies through 
active boardwork as well as through working groups 
and committees.

“We pay special attention to companies’ govern-
ance, personnel wellbeing, work safety, product safe-
ty and the way they handle customer relationships. 
When a company’s business model is based on 
environmental benefits or social impacts, responsi-
bility is naturally in the spotlight. By investing in BCB 
Medical, for instance, we can promote nationwide 
development of the quality and efficiency of medical 
treatment,” explains Ahlroos.

“We are actively seeking investment opportu-
nities in circular economy,” comment Hattula and 
Ahlroos. “It would be great to be involved in devel-
oping a company that would solve the challenges 
of sustainable development globally – for example, 
plastic wastes,” adds Ahlroos.

Ahlroos and Hattula believe that responsibility 
is a competitive asset for companies. Customers are 
demanding that their suppliers operate responsibly. 
Markets will favour those companies that can report 
on their responsible operations and, for instance, 
reduce their use of energy and raw materials. It will 
not be enough to simply meet legal requirements; 
companies will need to be proactive and even more 
responsible by surpassing them.

Hattula believes that private equity is an ex-
cellent method of renewing businesses and setting 
them on a sustainable and responsible path. “Own-
ers can accelerate the introduction of new business 
models by making choices. Traditional industry 
must, by necessity, become more responsible,” he 
adds.

“Today the world economy is still based on the 
concept of linear continuous growth, but global re-
sources will not suffice if today’s models are simply 
duplicated. The next industrial revolution, based on 
digitisation, will fundamentally change our ways of 
thinking and operating – but we must already start 
moving forward. The direction is towards a circular 
and sharing economy,” says Hattula. |

DIRECT INVESTMENTS
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KRR has a strong catalytic effect

KRR FUNDS-OF-FUNDS

The KRR funds-of-funds managed by Tesi 
play an important role in Finnish growth 
financing. They help pension companies in-
vest more in Finnish funds, thus providing 
more smart capital for growth companies. 
Established in 2017, KRR III – like its prede-
cessors – invests in Finnish venture capital 
and small buyout funds.

THE KRR funds-of-funds, managed by Tesi, focus on 
venture capital and small buyout funds. Over the 
2008–2017 period, KRR I and KRR II have invested in 
altogether 20 funds that, so far, have in turn accel-
erated the growth and internationalisation of 150 
companies.

An important goal for the KRR concept is to 
grow the size of Finnish funds so that they can better 
respond to the needs of the market.

“The KRR concept, on one hand, gives growth 
companies access to more smart capital but also 

gives funds access to professional and long-term an-
chor investors,” explains Tesi’s CEO Jan Sasse.

“Benefits can be seen at three levels. Finnish 
companies can raise the financing they need thanks 
to KRR. This is done through KRR’s portfolio funds 
that have been able to 
raise capital easier with 
an anchor investor. 
Furthermore, pension 
investors usually in-
vest only larger sums 
in individual funds, and 
through the fund-of-
funds concept they are 
able to channel their 
capital also to Finnish private equity funds and on to 
growth companies,” explains Tesi’s Investment Direc-
tor Riitta Jääskeläinen.

THE FUNDS’ CONCEPT WORKS WELL
KRR has a strongly catalysing effect. The commit-
ments of € 245 million made by KRR I and KRR II 
have catalysed over € 1.7 billion in investments in 
portfolio funds. “KRR I and KRR II have paved the way 
for the creation of about 20 Finnish venture capital 

TEXT NIKO HAIKALA | PHOTOS JUNNU LUSA

The KRR 
concept 

opens funds to 
professional and 
long-term anchor 
investors.
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and growth funds. These funds, in turn, will overall 
be involved in enabling the growth and boosting the 
value of some 150-200 Finnish growth companies,” 
explains Jääskeläinen.

“We’re delighted with Tesi’s work in KRR. The 
KRR concept gives us an opportunity to have an even 
stronger presence in the Finnish venture capital and 
private equity sector. And, most importantly, based 
on KRR I’s results, returns are at a good level – in oth-
er words, the concept works well,” comments Maarit 
Säynevirta, Head of Alternative Investments at the 
State Pension Fund of Finland.

To continue this work, KRR III was established 
in 2017. Co-investors with Tesi are Ilmarinen Mutual 
Pension Insurance Company, Keva, the State Pen-
sion Fund of Finland, Elo Mutual Pension Insurance 
Company, LocalTapiola General Mutual Insurance 
Company and Fennia Mutual Insurance Company. 
KRR III’s capital is € 150 million and it has a lifetime 

KRR III has a 
total capital of

€ 150
million and 
a lifetime of 
roughly

15
years.

of roughly 15 years. Through KRR III, the number of 
portfolio companies of the whole KRR concept will 
increase to approximately 300.

“KRR III will continue the KRR fund-of-funds 
family that has proven to be 
both necessary and effec-
tive. The creation of new 
Finnish funds creates the 
framework for new growth 
stories in the ongoing saga 
of Finland’s growth compa-
nies. KRR has a significant 
impact on the fund-raising 
of new venture capital and 
small buyout funds in Fin-
land, since many investors 
have not yet realised the 
recent positive development of returns from venture 
capital funds”, adds Jääskeläinen. |

Tesi’s Investment Director Riitta Jääskeläinen and State Pension Fund’s Head of Alternative Investments Maarit Säynevirta point 
out that the creation of new Finnish funds creates the framework for Finnish companies to produce new growth stories.

KRR FUNDS-OF-FUNDS
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BMH Technology takes circular 
economy to China

CASE

BMH Technology has delivered six process 
plants to China that convert waste into 
high-quality Solid Recovered Fuel (SRF). 
That is just the beginning, though. With 
broadened ownership, the company is aim-
ing for full-speed growth with wider hori-
zons.

BMH TECHNOLOGY LTD’S core expertise lies in 
waste refining solutions to meet the needs of waste 
management, energy production and process in-
dustries, and also in biomass fuel handling systems 
for power plants. In the company’s Tyrannosaurus® 
process, mixed waste is converted into high-quality 
Solid Recovered Fuel (SRF), which can be used to re-
place fossil fuels such as coal.

BMH Technology’s largest owner is the Hollm-
ing conglomerate, which has business groups in the 
marine cluster, energy sector and process industries.

“I represent the fourth generation in our fam-
ily-owned company. My grandfather founded the 
company in 1945 to build schooners for war repara-
tions, and it has steadily grown into a multibusiness 

conglomerate that owns and develops companies,” 
relates Hollming Ltd’s CEO Jouko Salo.

Hollming acquired BMH Technology in 2007, 
when it realised the company’s waste refining solu-
tions had good prospects for success also on a glob-
al scale.

“When the Chinese 
market opened up for us 
a couple of years ago, we 
understood that we need-
ed broader shoulders. The 
resources of a small, fami-
ly-owned business were not 
sufficient to reap the full 
benefit of the new opportu-
nities,” says Salo.

So BMH Technology 
broadened its ownership 
once again. Tesi and Etera 
Mutual Pension Insurance 
Company (now Ilmarinen) 
became new minority shareholders through a pri-
vate offering.

“This gave us more credibility and widened our 
operating scope. We share a common vision with 
Tesi: exporting green Finnish recycling technology to 
China. We’ve become emboldened, too, to plan for 

TEXT PIRKKO SOININEN | PHOTOS MIKAEL SOININEN

BMH has 
delivered over

70
Tyrannosaurus 
systems and 
over

150
biomass fuel 
handling 
systems.
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more ambitious growth. We’ve generated revenue of 
about € 50 million, but we have strong expectations 
for 2018,” says Salo.

AWARD FROM CHINA CEMENT ASSOCIATION
BMH has already delivered the first six waste refin-
ing solutions to China. One noteworthy reference 
the company won was the plant delivered in 2016 
to the Beijing Building Material Group. BBMG is the 
biggest cement producer in northern China, and 
the plant converts municipal waste into fuel for the 
cement kilns.

“We won a technology award from the Chi-
na Cement Association in December 2017 for this 
delivery. Recognition from such a prestigious or-
ganisation opened a gateway for us to enter China’s 
demanding cement market,” reports Salo.

BMH is strongest in large-scale industrial 
systems, so the markets are in large cities. Waste 

management in China’s large cities is embryonic, and 
waste often ends up in landfill sites. China, mean-
while, is the world’s largest producer of cement, 
boasting over 1,200 cement factories.

Development of waste handling is a declared 
strategic objective in the Chinese government’s five-
year plan. That means there is a real need for sys-
tems that can produce fuel from waste.

“So, if this business is worth doing anywhere in 
the world, it’s worth doing there,” says Salo.

A CHALLENGING AND INTERESTING MARKET
BMH has not set out to conquer the Chinese market 
from a cold start because Auramarine, a Hollming 
subsidiary, has had a manufacturing plant in China 
for 15 years already. Salo points out that although 
there are many cultural differences, they can be 
overcome if there is a willingness to understand and 
adapt to them.

CASE

“With Tesi’s backing, we’ll be able to see beyond immediate issues and take a long-term view of how we can work together in 
pursuit of our values,” sums up Hollming Ltd’s CEO Jouko Salo.
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BMH TECHNOLOGY LTD

 ◆ What it makes: demanding waste refining solu-
tions to meet the needs of waste management, 
energy production and process industries, and 
also biomass fuel handling systems for power 
plants.

 ◆ Domicile: Rauma, Finland.
 ◆ Net sales (2017, estimated): € 42 million.
 ◆ Size of market sector: € 25 billion.
 ◆ Principal owners: Hollming Ltd, Tesi, Ilmarinen 
Mutual Pension Insurance Company.

“The ways of negotiating and project manage-
ment, for instance, are quite different. Many prob-
lems are solved by communicating, though,” he says.

The involvement of a state-owned player is 
highly important in Asian trade and commerce, and 
Tesi’s backing strengthens BMH’s 
credibility. New capital will also en-
able the company to respond more 
quickly to growth in demand.

In Salo’s opinion, China is a 
challenging market because its 
economy is developing so fast and 
decisions are made so abruptly. 
On the other hand, it is a very interesting market to 
follow.

RESPONSIBILITY IS AN IMPORTANT VALUE 
Salo feels it is inspiring to contribute to solving 
the world’s problems. He believes that by 2050 all 
profitable business operations will have to take 
into account sustainable development and external 
impacts of business. For a family-owned company, 
responsibility is an important value.

“We put personnel wellbeing and work safety in 
first place because the company is the people who 
work in it, and in our work community we prioritize 
the team first. Next, of course, come environmental 
aspects.”

“The use of biofuels and the making of biofu-
el from waste will slow down global warming and 
reduce carbon dioxide emissions. Both are strongly 
linked with the revolution now taking place in the en-
ergy market, and with emission-free and low-emis-
sion energy production. These are matters close to 
our heart.”

Salo believes that responsibility in business 
creates a competitive advantage above all through 
continuity.

“The world’s regulatory environment is becom-
ing more stringent all the time, and our business 
activities help customers meet the stricter environ-
mental requirements.”

BMH Technology Ltd has so far delivered over 
70 Tyrannosaurus systems and 
over 150 biomass fuel handling 
systems to different corners of the 
world. The company’s operations 
in the environmental and ener-
gy sector are based on in-house 
technology, project management 
and expertise in manufacturing and 

installation. Based in Rauma, Finland, the company’s 
head office is supported by sales offices in China, 
Sweden and Poland.

“It’s rewarding to collaborate with Tesi. They 
have experience in the importance of long-term 
development, and the time-span for implementation 
is similar to that in a family-owned company,” says 
Salo. |

For a family-
owned com-

pany, responsibility is 
an important value.

CASE
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Stepping onto the world stage 
with health data

CASE

Software for healthcare and the manage-
ment and analysis of genomic and clini-
cal data are undergoing a revolution that 
will have an impact on people’s everyday 
lives. BCB Medical and BC Platforms, both 
IT companies, are taking Finland onto the 
world stage as pioneers in bioinformatics 
and health technology solutions.

INDIVIDUALISED healthcare is an international meg-
atrend that will have a profound effect on people’s 
wellbeing. In the future, it will be possible to plan the 
prevention and treatment of diseases for a specific 
individual based on genomic data.

The pharmaceutical industry will also be able to 
speed up the product development process. Like-
wise, physicians will be able to more easily draw on 
the latest research and health data to determine 
best treatments.

These visions will be realised by two Finnish 

growth companies in the IT sector – BCB Medical and 
BC Platforms – who develop software and analytics 
supporting healthcare. Tesi made first-round invest-
ments in both companies in 2017.

GREAT POTENTIAL IN HEALTH TECHNOLOGY
International venture capital investors are currently 
showing very strong interest in the health technolo-
gy sector. Although in 
Finland many compa-
nies in this sector are 
still struggling through 
the early stages of 
their development, 
they have huge growth 
potential over the next 
few years.

Tesi’s Investment 
Manager Joni Karsikas foresees Finland rapidly 
becoming a European centre for health technology. 
Last year health technology companies raised many 
of Finland’s largest financing rounds. BC Platforms, 
for instance, led by Swiss Debiopharm Innovation 
Fund and Tesi, raised € 9 million.

“It’s difficult to achieve rapid growth in just the 

TEXT ANNIKA KUJANPÄÄ | PHOTO DREAMSTIME

Finland 
is rapidly 

becoming a 
European centre 
for health 
technology.
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domestic market and with the support of only local 
investors, so we’re offering companies diversified 
financing solutions for strengthening their interna-
tional expansion,” explains Karsikas.

DETERMINATION AND PATIENCE  
PAY DIVIDENDS
BC Platforms, already operating internationally, is 
conquering global markets. The company’s mission 
is to be a global leader in providing biobanks, the 
pharmaceutical industry and the healthcare sector 
with a platform for managing genomic and clinical 
data. BC Platforms’ CEO Tero Silvola calls for the 
determination and patience needed from companies 
competing in the IT and healthcare sector.

“Health technology is quite a challenging field. 
Decision-making can be slow, value chains complex 
and the sector itself rather conservative. Success 
often requires a development-oriented customer 
relationship, either in the domestic market or from 
farther afield, with a player operating in the same 
partnership network,” Silvola points out.

BC Platforms modified its strategy in 2014 when 
the company started seeking smart capital from out-
side Finland. The investment round took a long time, 
because BC Platforms was seeking an overall inves-
tor entity suited specifically to its needs. At this point 
Tesi stepped in to support the company.

“It’s gratifying to be involved in promoting new 
innovations in bioinformatics and to strengthen 
Finland’s prominent position as a pioneer in utilising 
health data. BC Platforms has unique expertise that 
combines a strong understanding of genomics with 
outstanding software design,” acclaims Karsikas.

DOMESTIC MARKET A GOOD SPRINGBOARD
Sometimes, also, focusing on just one market area 
can produce strong growth. BCB Medical, focusing 
on data collection and analysis, has posted annual 
growth of average 35 per cent for the last five years.

The company’s operating model and technical 
product development model are based on cloud 
services and on sales models that are scalable also 
to new markets. Backing BCB Medical, in addition to 
Tesi, are the Swedish investment companies Stand-
out Capital and Backstage Invest.

“Up until 2017 we focused essentially on just 
the domestic market and in developing our products 
in Finland. Our aim during 2018 is to conclude the 
first cooperation agreements, particularly in the Nor-
dic countries, and we’ve already received enquiries 
from a number of sources,” reports BCB Medical’s 
Managing Director Petteri Viljanen.

BC Platforms’ CEO Tero Silvola describes how health techno-
logy is a fairly challenging and rapidly evolving field.

“Our goal is that by 2020 more than 30 percent of our compa-
ny’s net sales will come from the international market, says 
BCB Medical’s Managing Director Petteri Viljanen.

CASE
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BC PLATFORMS

 ◆ Established in 1997, the company produces 
genomic data management solutions that ad-
dress some of the biggest healthcare challenges 
today.

 ◆ R&D units in Helsinki and sales & marketing 
units in Basle, London, Boston and Vancouver.

BCB MEDICAL 

 ◆ Established in 2003, the company is the Nordic 
market leader in gathering and analysing clinical 
data.

 ◆ The company’s head office is in Turku, Finland, 
and it has offices also in Espoo, Oulu and Tam-
pere.

BC Platforms 
raised

€9m
in venture 
capital last year.

FINLAND A WORLD LEADER IN UTILISING 
HEALTH DATA? 
Financing offered by the investor group will be tar-
geted at strengthening development, sales and cus-
tomer service resources for BCB Medical’s software 
business, particularly in Europe. In Finland, the goal 
is to double the number 
of people working in the 
R&D centre and in cus-
tomer service by 2020.

Heli Ahlroos, Tesi’s 
Director, Venture Capital, 
was convinced by BCB 
Medical’s development 
work, strong position in 
the domestic market and clear growth targets.

“Tesi wants to contribute to strengthening 
Finland’s key position as a world leader in utilising 
medical information. BCB Medical has been devel-
oping its know-how and products in Finland for a 
long time. We are now ready, with BCB Medical and 
Standout Capital, to take the next step towards the 
global healthcare ICT market,” says Alhroos. |

CASE



TESI ANNUAL REVIEW 2017 19

Inventure raises record 
amount of capital

CASE

Sami Lampinen, founder of early-stage 
venture capital company Inventure, and his 
team completed fund-raising for Finland’s 
largest venture capital fund, € 110 million 
Inventure III, in record time. Lampinen be-
lieves that there are many attractive op-
portunities for investors in Finland. He has, 
however, a message for Finnish start-ups: 
speed up your execution phase.

FOUNDED in 2005, Inventure has made Finnish 
fund-raising history and demonstrated how to trans-
late thought into action. Fund-raising for the first € 
40 million Inventure fund took nearly two years in 
2007. € 70 million Inventure II fund took just over a 
year, and was founded in 2013. Last year Inventure 
III raised € 110 million from investors in less than a 
year.

Lampinen is very pleased that each round 
brought new institutional investors into the fold. Tesi 

has invested in Inventure from the very beginning.
“Tesi and Inventure share a strong common in-

terest in developing the Finnish venture capital mar-
ket. We’ve also joined forces to seek ways of attract-
ing international expertise, co-investors and capital 
to Finland,” says Lampinen.

Tapio Passinen, Investment Director at Tesi, 
emphasises that Inventure’s latest fund-raising is 
quite an achievement even at a European level. 
Inventure III is the 
first Finnish venture 
capital fund to reach 
€ 100 million in over 
15 years.

“Although the 
venture capital 
market has recov-
ered strongly since 
the dot-com bubble, 
fund-raising is still not easy in Europe. Inventure’s 
success is a testimony to investors’ confidence in 
the team. Inventure has impressed us with its broad 
vision of how the market will develop. The Inventure 
team has the will and the ability to develop their 
portfolio companies,” comments Passinen.

TEXT TONI PEREZ | PHOTOS JUNNU LUSA

Tesi and 
Inventure share 

a strong common 
interest in developing 
the Finnish venture 
capital market.
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EARLIER PLANNING OF FINANCING ROUNDS
The raising of a large venture capital fund is good 
news for Finnish early-stage technology companies. 
Tesi’s Investment Manager Petteri Laakso points 
out Finnish venture capital funds have previously 
faced challenges in attracting capital, meaning that 
the funds have been quite small in size.

“When the fund is larger, Inventure can provide 
follow-on financing to companies for longer than 
before. Portfolio companies get more stability for 
business development and investors get a possibility 
to grow their returns,” Laakso explains.

Inventure finances companies’ growth with 
venture capital investments up to € 5-10 million. On 
the other hand, it continues to invest in the seed 
phase of companies, with investments ranging from 
€ 200,000 to € 500,000.

“It is important that Finland has a well-function-
ing ecosystem for growth financing. It’s important to 
start sparring and conceptualising financing rounds 
as early as the seed phase, and not wait until the 
financing round becomes a burning question. Our 
co-investors also expect us to continually have our 

sights set on new rising stars,” adds Lampinen.
One way Inventure identifies new stars is with 

wide-ranging studies examining the start-up ecosys-
tems of specific markets or cities.

DOES SLOWLY BUT SURELY HOLD TRUE? 
Inventure’s operating philosophy has a strong inter-
national approach. The company pursues a vision of 
helping to turn Nordic and Baltic start-ups into glob-
al superstars. To succeed in this goal, Inventure has 
an international team of 10 experts, working out of 
Stockholm and Shanghai, as well as Helsinki.

“We want to make it easier and faster for entre-
preneurs to create international success stories. We 
utilise our broad experience to help teams interna-
tionalise, but above all to boldly build a huge story,” 
says Lampinen, who has been working in the field of 
financing technology start-ups for 20 years.

Inventure can back this claim with solid evi-
dence. Last year Inventure exited Beddit, a compa-
ny specialised in sleep monitoring devices that was 
sold to Apple Inc., while Rightware, a specialist in 
automotive software, was acquired by Thundersoft. 

CASE
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Inventure also implemented large follow-on financ-
ing rounds in Canatu, which manufactures bendable 
touch sensors, and in Blueprint Genetics, an innova-
tor in genetics testing.

“The primary job of a venture capital investor is 
to accelerate a company’s business. Finnish start-ups 
lead the world in many ways, but we could definitely 
accelerate the cycle in the execution phase. Many 
international companies, for instance, build up their 
marketing and broadly develop the company as 
early as the product development phase,” Lampinen 
says, and continues:

“The idea of ‘slowly but surely’ is still firmly 
entrenched in Finland. The flipside of a leisurely ap-
proach, however, is that failures also come slowly.”

RESPONSIBILITY ALSO ADDRESSED  
IN FAILURES
Inventure has three or four large exits planned for 
2018, plus five follow-on rounds and ten new invest-
ments. The strong international approach raises the 
question of whether Finnish knowhow is being sold 
piece-by-piece to large global corporations. Is that 
happening?

“We think it is extremely important to find the 
right partners for exits – partners who can help the 
team to grow the company. In many cases, these are 
large international technology companies. Our ex-
perience shows that this has a positive impact from 
Finland’s viewpoint: Finnish companies have been 
able to employ more people in Finland and also to 
benefit from more international expertise.”

Corporate responsibility plays a key role when 
selecting portfolio companies, as well as when exit-
ing from them. Inventure’s portfolio includes Beiz, 
for instance, which develops interactive and edu-
cational games for children, and Yogaia that brings 

INVENTURE 

 ◆ Founded 2005.
 ◆ Mission: To invest in innovative and rapidly-grow-
ing hi-tech start-ups in the Nordic and Baltic coun-
tries, and turn them into global success stories.

 ◆ Portfolio: 38 companies.
 ◆ Fund investors: Tesi, Elo Mutual Pension Insur-
ance Company, European Investment Fund EIF, 
KRR funds-of-funds, Ilmarinen Mutual Pension 
Insurance Company, Nordea Life Assurance, Sand-
vik Eläkesäätiö, and The Finnish Innovation Fund 
Sitra.

 ◆ Team: 10 people, plus three more being recruited. 
Sami Lampinen, Managing Partner; Timo Tirkko-
nen, partner; and Tuomas Kosonen, partner.

yoga into every living room. Canatu and Wirepas, for 
their part, offer solutions that promote the efficient 
use of energy.

“Tesi has given us a professional investor’s 
perspective on our administration and governance. 
We receive guidance about responsibility issues on 
a regular basis and, of course, certain reporting re-
quirements. This knowhow we pass on to our portfo-
lio companies, and we then support them in respon-
sible decision-making,” explains Lampinen.

He points out that responsibility is, however, 
particularly needed when all does not go well.

“Failures are not unheard of in the world of 
start-ups. Responsibility involves bringing matters to 
a fair conclusion with regard to taxes and creditors. 
Due regard must also be given to entrepreneurs, 
and there should be no finger-pointing. I’ve always 
said that when things are handled properly, bank-
ruptcy is just an experience,” concludes Lampinen. |

CASE
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Exit = the moment of truth

MARKETBLOG

A good exit means success. Entrepreneurs, 
management, employees and the venture 
capital investors that believed in the com-
pany have together been able to raise the 
company to the next level. For the compa-
ny, an exit means a new owner – a more 
suitable one for that moment in time. 
According to financing theory, a compa-
ny’s owner should be the one to whom the 
company is the most valuable at a certain 
point in time. The best owner will vary over 
the company’s lifecycle. Venture capital 
and private equity investors are always 
temporary owners, acting as catalysts for 
growth, creating value and pursuing other 
strategic and operative changes.

FOR THE COMPANY and its personnel, a new owner 
generally provides a better foundation for success 
in the future. In 2017, Tesi exited successfully from 
four companies in our venture portfolio: Rightware, 

Optofidelity, Visedo and IonPhasE. We believe that 
the new, international, industrial owners of these 
companies can considerably boost the business de-
velopment of the acquired companies with broader 
resources and strategic synergies – for instance, by 
opening doors to new markets and creating com-
pletely new value chains. This is the experience of 
Finnish technology company Applifier, which grew 
its sales to over 200 million euros within a few years 
after being acquired by Unity Technologies.

Exits are the life blood of venture capital in-
vestors. Without profitable exits there would be no 
returns. Most of the capital in the venture capital 
and private equity investment sector comes from 
pension funds, so the returns on these investments 
safeguard the viability of Finland’s, and other coun-
tries’, pension systems. If investors do not succeed in 
exits, they cannot raise new funds.

The businesses of venture capital backed com-
panies include, almost without exception, a negative 
cash flow in both the investment phase and also still 
at the time of exit. This is a known risk factor in ven-
ture capital. Of Tesi’s portfolio companies mentioned 
earlier, only Optofidelity was profitable. Regardless 
of this fact, industrial buyers perceived a definite 
strategic value in these companies and were ready 
to pay many tens of millions of euros to acquire 
them.

TEXT TOMI RIIHIRANTA | PHOTOS JUNNU LUSA
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It would be simple to attribute the recent exits 
simply to the prevailing economic upswing and to 
the generally favourable development of capital 
markets and the macroeconomy. I am convinced, 
though, that other interesting phenomena are 
at play. There is less mismatch between startups 
and large companies in Finland than there used to 
be. The strategy of many global corporations has 
for decades incorporated the systematic identi-
fication of potential acquisitions of smaller com-
panies, including startups mastering interesting 
technology. Large corporations have constructed 
predefined processes for negotiating corporate 
acquisitions and for effective integration. Finnish 
corporations have earlier exhibited a “not invented 
here” attitude, but fortunately are now moving to a 
more open-minded approach. In summer 2016, for 
instance, Wärtsilä acquired Tesi’s portfolio compa-
ny Eniram, which offers high value-adding marine 
technologies.

Large corporations, too, are now acutely aware 
of digitisation and the profound changes this will 
bring to all sectors. Company management has 
received stronger support from their owners and 
boards for acquiring smaller technology companies 
as an element in their own R&D and innovation 
activities.

I believe that such international interaction 

will continue to be greatly important in Finland’s 
venture capital and private equity market, and gen-
erally for our whole economy. Evidence of this can 
be seen in the high degree of involvement by Asian, 
and especially Chinese, players in acquiring and in-
vesting in Finnish companies.

Digitisation will result in global-level competi-
tion gradually reaching into more and more sectors. 
It is vital, particularly for Finnish companies based 
in our small domestic market, to network as ef-
fectively as possible with international customers, 
whether it be through B2B or B2C businesses. Inter-
national investors have already proven their value 
by bringing a “shoot for the stars” attitude, along 
with their expertise and networks, to support many 
Finnish growth companies with strong international 
expansion plans.

The truth is revealed at the moment of exit. 
Have investors managed to create value through 
working with the company over several years? If the 
answer is yes, everyone wins – including society at 
large. Our ex-portfolio company Visedo was bought 
by the Danish multibillion conglomerate Danfoss – 
an excellent new home for a small company. With 
the support from Danfoss, Visedo gets a completely 
new possibility to grow its environmentally friend-
ly business in global markets as well as strengthen 
resources in its hometown of Lappeenranta. |

MARKETBLOG
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REPORT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Finland entered a new period of strong growth in 2017. 

Improved employment, buoyant construction and marine 

industries, higher corporate investment levels, a rise in asset 

values and low interest rates, combined with an upswing in 

exports, acted as catalysts in boosting Finland’s economy. 

Over the longer term, a shortage of skilled labour to meet 

changing business needs can hamper Finland’s growth.

The favourable macro-economic climate was reflect-

ed in Finland’s financial markets. Households’ appetite for 

credit, for instance, as well as companies’ enthusiasm for 

financing investment with debt, reached their highest-ever 

levels in December 2017 (source: Finance Finland’s Banking 

Barometer IV/2017). In corporate financing, diversification in 

the supply of financing, partly through crowd-funding and 

higher volumes of financing from the European Investment 

Bank, is an emerging market trend. IPOs also continue to be 

an important source of growth financing.

Venture capital and private equity markets have re-

mained stable both in Finland and internationally, largely 

due to a continuing appetite for risk and abundant liquidity 

in almost all global asset categories. A rise in interest rates 

and possible geopolitical shocks could disrupt the balance 

of markets even over the short-term.

Finnish venture capital and private equity funds were 

successful in fund-raising in 2017. New funds were raised to 

support the growth and risk-taking capacity of companies in 

all phases of development. The fund-of-fund KRR III raising 

€150m, backed by Tesi and by Finnish pension funds and 

insurance companies, was a critical milestone for continuity 

in the supply of capital, especially for Finnish venture capital 

investments. 

Finnish venture capital volumes remained close to the 

record levels of 2016, at some €250m. A large portion of this 

came from international investors. Noteworthy in 2017 was 

investors’ heightened interest in Finnish health technology 

companies. Meanwhile, in Europe fintech-related venture 

capital investments have become one of the hottest tech-

nology subsectors.

International investors are more active than ever before 

in Finland’s venture capital and private equity market. Chi-

nese investors, in particular, made many large investments 

and acquisitions in Finland during the year. Asian investors 

are active also in other European countries. This trend can be 

seen as one sign of a geopolitical shift in which the relative 

dominance of Asia, and especially China, is strengthening. 

Finnish buyout funds have around €1b of raised capital 

seeking new investees. Finding suitable investees will require 

a more versatile approach in creating a deal flow than be-

fore. A large part of these funds’ investment capacity will be 

targeted at an important part of Finland’s business struc-

ture – the growth and internationalisation of medium-sized 

companies and their mergers and acquisitions.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

Report by the Board of Directors 2017
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REPORT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In addition to profitability, Tesi’s investment operations aim 

at creating an impact on the economy. This impact is man-

ifested in the growth of companies through promoting the 

development of Finland’s venture capital and private equity 

market and by enhancing skilled ownership. Tesi’s vision is 

to raise Finland to the next level of entrepreneurship, growth 

and internationalisation.

During 2017 Tesi gave commitments to venture capital 

and private equity funds and made new investments in 

companies amounting to €149m (€165m in 2016). This fig-

ure includes a €60m commitment to the KRR III fund. 

Tesi gave commitments totalling €60m (€102m) 

to seven venture capital and private equity funds. Four 

commitments were to venture capital funds and three to 

growth funds. In addition to Tesi’s investments, other capital 

amounting to €526m was invested in Finnish funds, which is 

roughly 8 times the amount of Tesi’s commitment. Tesi gave 

three commitments to international funds that supplement 

the Finnish venture capital market with their special focus 

and/or special expertise.

Tesi paid out altogether €59m (€62m) to funds in capital 

calls. Correspondingly, the funds returned a total of €77m 

(€80m) to the company.

Tesi made direct investments during the year of alto-

gether €29m (€63m) in 22 companies, including the invest-

ments of Start Fund I Ky that Tesi acquired. Overall, a total 

of almost €163m in new capital was channelled into these 

portfolio companies, representing five times the amount in-

vested by Tesi. Of this total amount, some €45m came from 

international investors. 

Investment programmes promoting growth and the 

renewal of economic structures form a focus for Tesi’s direct 

investments.

The strategic priorities for the Industrial Renewal pro-

gramme are cleantech, bioeconomy, health technology 

and digitalisation. Through the programme, investments 

amounting to over €8.7m were made in eight companies 

in 2017. The largest investments were in Kotkamills, Rauma 

Marine Constructions and Enevo. Altogether, investments 

totalling €78m have been made in 21 companies under the 

auspices of the programme.

Through Tesi, the International Co-investors programme 

acts as a catalyst in attracting international capital and 

expertise into Finnish growth companies. In 2017, some €7m 

was invested in four companies through the programme. 

Investee companies in the programme were BCB Medical, 

MariaDB Corporation and Verto Analytics. Throughout the 

programme, investments amounting to over €19m have 

been made in altogether seven companies. These compa-

nies have raised a total of €116m in capital from investors, of 

which €88m came from international investors.

The investment programme for the mining cluster 

aims to boost the growth of Finland’s mining industry. In 

2017, €2.3m was invested in two companies through the 

programme. Altogether €13.3m has been invested in seven 

companies through the programme. 

Tesi’s objective is also to internationalise Finland’s ven-

ture capital and private equity market. In 2017 Tesi’s interna-

tional investor partners invested altogether €72m in Finnish 

growth companies, of which €27m came from Tesi’s inter-

national portfolio funds. In addition to capital, investors also 

provided Finnish companies with highly valuable business 

management expertise as well as contact networks. 

         

In recent years, Tesi has put special emphasis on active 

ownership and portfolio companies’ growth. The aggregat-

ed net sales of direct portfolio companies grew on average 

by 22% (median) during the financial year. The aggregated 

net sales of venture-capital phase companies grew on av-

erage by 35% (median), and of later-stage companies by an 

average 19% (median).

Exits reached record levels in 2017, especially in the ven-

ture capital segment. Altogether €122m was returned from 

investments during the year, of which €77m was from funds 

and €45m from direct investments.

Tesi exited from altogether eight direct portfolio compa-

nies. Asian investors and industrial buyers were particularly 

prominent in the exit market. Tesi also exited from eight 

fund investments that had reached the end of their term, 

and from two fund investments by selling its share in the 

fund.

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
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In addition to the Group’s own investment operations, 

Tesi manages the funds-of-funds KRR I, II and III. In 2017, 

KRR II became fully invested and the fund’s portfolio now 

comprises ten Finnish venture capital and small buyout 

funds. Tesi co-founded the KRR III fund together with Ilmar-

inen, Keva, State Pension Fund of Finland, Elo, LocalTapiola 

and Fennia. KRR III started operating with capital of €150m 

and, like its predecessors, plans to build a portfolio of some 

ten funds. KRR III made its first investment in 2017.

The model for the KRR concept has over the last ten 

years proven to be very successful, while also having a 

positive impact on Finland’s economy. KRR has already 

accelerated the growth of over 150 companies, and future 

investments by KRR II & KRR III are expected to raise this 

figure to 300.
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Consolidated profit/loss
Favourable development of the business climate was 

reflected in Tesi’s portfolio in the strong growth of portfolio 

companies and numerous exits. This improved Tesi’s profit-

ability both in venture capital and private equity investments 

and in financial securities. Consolidated profit for the finan-

cial year grew appreciably compared to the previous year, 

amounting to €66m (€45m in 2016).

The Group’s net gains from venture capital and private 

equity investments in 2017 totalled €69m (€46m). Net gains 

from funds were €53m (€28m). Net gains were boosted 

by positive gains in valuations and by exits from portfolio 

companies.

Net gains from direct investments amounted to €15m 

(€18m). Net gains comprised exits from investments, of 

which there were 8 during the financial year. Both the 

growth and profitability of portfolio companies grew strong-

ly, but weaker than expected development of a few large 

investments depressed the unrealised change in value of 

Tesi’s direct investment portfolio, which remained negative.

Other operating income includes net gains from finan-

cial securities amounting to €18m (€17m). Most of Tesi’s 

financial securities are fixed-interest investments, and thus 

produced less income than the previous year because of the 

prevailing low interest rates. Equity investments performed 

strongly, raising overall returns from financial securities 

somewhat compared to 2016.

Operating expenses were €7m (€8m). Expenses per bal-

ance sheet total were 0.6% (0.8%). Operating profit amount-

ed to €80m (€55m).

GROUP’S FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
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Balance sheet and financial position
Non-current assets were €569m (€533m) at the end of the 

year, of which €560m (€525m) consisted of venture capital 

and private equity investments recognised at fair value 

in the statement of comprehensive income. Volumes of 

venture capital and private equity investment grew by €35m 

during 2017. Of the venture capital and private equity invest-

ments at the end of the year, €372m (€336m) was invested 

in funds and €189m (€189m) in direct investments.

More detailed information about the determination of 

fair value is given in note 4 of the Notes to the Accounts.

The figure for current assets, €452m (€410m), included 

€445m (€404m) of financial securities recognised at fair 

value in the statement of comprehensive income.

Financial securities safeguard continuity in the compa-

ny’s investment operations and its ability to meet unpaid 

commitments. At the end of 2017 unpaid commitments 

totalled €367m (€305m). Unpaid commitments consist 

almost entirely of commitments given to funds, with an 

average payment period of over four years. In addition to 

unpaid commitments to funds, some €60m has been set 

aside for direct investments under the company’s ongoing 

investment programmes.
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Tesi’s operations are governed by a special law and a gov-

ernment decree relating to it, which define the company’s 

main principles for risk-taking. Tesi promotes the develop-

ment of Finland’s venture capital and private equity market 

as well as the growth and internationalisation of Finnish 

companies. The company’s operations therefore involve 

bearing higher than usual risks in certain geographic areas 

and specific sectors. The company’s investment activities 

must nevertheless be managed as a whole in a way that 

ensures investments are adequately diversified and that 

does not legally jeopardise the primary obligation for profit-

able operation over the long term. 

Tesi has a risk management policy, confirmed by the 

Board of Directors. The policy sets out the principles for 

risk management, specifies risk definitions and risk clas-

sifications and also defines the main roles and divisions 

of responsibilities as well as the monitoring and reporting 

procedures. The goal for risk management is to ensure that 

risks borne by the company are commensurate with its 

risk-bearing capability. The aim is to ensure that the risks 

attached to the company’s business operations are identi-

fied and assessed, that the company responds to those risks, 

and that they are managed and monitored.

The Board of Directors confirms the company’s strategy 

and action plan, in which the targets for different invest-

ment allocations are prioritised and specified. In order to 

reduce risks, investments are deconcentrated to different 

allocation classes, different industries, and also distributed 

geographically, while taking into account the company’s 

social mission. The Board makes investment decisions and 

supervises the implementation of investments.

Risk management supports achievement of the goals 

set in the company’s strategy and action plan by monitoring 

that the risks taken are commensurate with risk-bearing 

capability. Risk-bearing capability is managed by carefully 

planning investment operations and by managing invest-

ments with the aim of assuring achievement of the targets 

set for return on capital and profitability.

Tesi’s main risks are related to private equity and venture 

capital investments, and to investments in financial se-

curities. Both involve various investment risks, including 

business risks attached to venture capital and private equity 

RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
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The Group’s balance sheet totalled €1,020m (€943m) 

on 31 December 2017. Shareholders’ equity grew to 

€978m as a result of the net profit of €66m for the finan-

cial year. The Group’s equity ratio was 95.9% (96.8%). The 

Group did not hold any interest-bearing liabilities at the 

end of 2017.
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investments, liquidity risks, market risks and credit risks.

A higher business risk is attached to direct industrial in-

vestments, which are aimed at influencing implementation 

of Finland’s industrial policy. Direct industrial investments 

represent about one-third of the entire portfolio of direct 

investments and 10% of the whole VC & PE investment 

portfolio. 

The value of private equity and venture capital invest-

ments at the end of the financial year amounted to €560m. 

Investments are subject to the risks stated above that, if they 

were realised, could substantially affect the future value of 

the investments. The attached table presents the possible 

euro-denominated impacts of relative changes in valuations 

on the value of the private equity and venture capital invest-

ment portfolio.

The risks related to each private equity and/or venture 

capital investment are managed by predictive generation of 

the deal flow, careful analysis in the screening phase, partic-

ipating through board work in the business development of 

portfolio companies, proactive interaction with managers of 

private equity and venture capital funds, and positive action 

in the exit stage. 

Managing financing risks ensures that the company 

always has adequate financing available for its business 

operations (unpaid commitments). The company’s liquidity 

and cash flows are continuously monitored. When preparing 

new investments, the effect of the investments on liquidity 

and financial position is taken into account. Most of the 

company’s cash flows and investments are denominated in 

euros.

Investments in financial securities are made at the 

selected risk level in compliance with the investment policy 

confirmed by the Board of Directors. Investments in financial 

securities aim to ensure adequate assets for private equity 

investing and other payment transactions. Investments in 

financial securities are spread mainly between investments 

in bond funds, investments in equity funds, and alternative 

investments. The market volatility of financial securities is 

monitored regularly and counterparty risk is managed by 

selecting partners carefully.

Other risks to which Tesi is exposed include strategic 

risks, operational risks, risks of loss or damage, and risks for 

reputation. Strategic risks are managed by regularly evaluat-

ing the company’s operations and operating environment. 

Operational risks are managed by good corporate gover-

nance and internal instructions, and these risks are covered 

by insurances.

At the end of 2017 the ratio of total investments (fair 

value) and investment commitments to shareholders’ equity 

was 95%.

More detailed information about risks and risk manage-

ment is given in note 3 of the Notes to the Accounts.

IMPACT OF CHANGES IN VALUE OF VC & PE INVESTMENTS ON INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (€560M), €M

Fund Investments (fair value €372m)

Direct investments 
(fair value €189m)

0 % -5 % -10 % -15 % -20 %

0 % 0 -19 -37 -56 -74

-10 % -19 -38 -56 -75 -93

-20 % -38 -56 -75 -94 -112

-30 % -57 -75 -94 -113 -131

-40 % -76 -94 -113 -131 -150
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Group structure
The Group’s subsidiaries are Start Fund Management Oy 

(parent company’s ownership 100%), Tesi Fund Manage-

ment Oy (parent company’s ownership 100%), Tesi Industrial 

Management Oy (parent company’s ownership 100%) and 

Aker Arctic Technology Oy (ownership 66.4%). Start Fund I 

Ky (ownership 100%) was dissolved during the financial year.

Organisation and development of operations
At Tesi’s Annual General Meeting on 1 March 2017, the 

following members were elected to the Board of Directors: 

Board Chairman, Esa Lager (Board Professional, LL.M., M.Sc. 

(Econ), born 1959); Urpo Hautala (Senior Advisor, Ministry of 

Finance, M.Pol.Sc., born 1958); Kimmo Jyllilä (CEO, Almatro 

Advisors Oy, M.Sc. (Econ), born 1972); Johanna Lindroos 

(Partner, Dasos Capital Oy, M.Sc. (Econ), born 1968); Mika 

Niemelä, (Director of Finance, Ministry of Employment and 

the Economy, M.Pol.Sc., born 1975); Annamarja Paloheimo, 

(People Business Partner, Personal Banking, Nordea Bank AB 

(publ), Senior Lawyer, LL.M., born 1964); and Riitta Tiuraniemi 

(CEO, Terveysoperaattori Oy, M.Sc. (Tech), born 1962). In 

2017 the Board of Directors convened altogether 16 times 

and average attendance at the meetings was 90.2%. 

The company’s President & CEO was Martin Backman 

(M.Sc. (Econ.), M.Sc. (Eng.), born 1969) until 3 March 2017. 

The company’s Board of Directors appointed as his suc-

cessor Jan Sasse (M.Sc. (Econ.) born 1967) with effect from 

6 March 2017. The parent company employed an average 

32 people during the financial year. Three new employees 

were recruited in 2017, and four people left the company. At 

year’s end 12 women and 21 men worked in the company.

During the year Tesi continued to put the values it 

defined in 2016 into practice. The company’s vision was also 

updated to accord with the redefined values and operational 

enhancements. Tesi will help raise Finland to the next level 

of growth and internationalisation.

Personal performance discussions were held twice in 

2017. The discussions help disseminate strategic targets to 

team and individual level, and these targets are supported 

and monitored. In Tesi, personnel commitment and mo-

tivation strongly depend on employees being able to use 

and develop their skills and expertise in a versatile way. Skills 

development in 2017 focused mainly on communications 

and media skills as well as on interaction capabilities.

Personnel surveys are conducted regularly to monitor 

personnel motivation and job satisfaction. A 360-degree 

evaluation was conducted for the first time in the company. 

The results gave valuable feedback for developing manage-

ment and supervisory skills.

Tesi follows the guidelines issued by the Prime Minister’s 

Office regarding remuneration in state-owned companies. 

Salaries and emoluments in 2017 totalled €3.7m (€3.8m). 

The remuneration system is developed in line with evolv-

ing company objectives, in order to effectively support the 

company’s business operations. More details about remu-

neration practices are given in the Corporate Responsibility 

Report, which is published on the company’s website.

In autumn 2017, Tesi designated as its strategic develop-

ment projects the development of Finland’s venture capital 

& private equity market and data-driven business. Develop-

ment of the VC & PE market will take the form of broaden-

ing the investor base of Finnish funds with both Finnish and 

international investors. Tesi will also update its internation-

alisation strategy and focus on acquiring better knowledge 

of the Asian market. Tesi will in future employ more concise 

data and more effective analytics in its operations and stra-

tegic planning.

Shares and share capital
The company has one class of share and 41,710 shares. The 

share capital is €438,992,200.

Board’s proposal for the distribution of profit
The parent company’s distributable earnings (according to 

FAS financial statements) on 31 December 2017 amounted 

to €187,385,291. No significant changes in the compa-

ny’s financial position have occurred since the end of the 

financial year. The Board proposes to the Annual General 

Meeting that no dividend be distributed for financial year 

2017. The company’s financial resources will be targeted at 

investments that promote the growth and internationalisa-

tion of Finnish companies and the development of Finland’s 

venture capital and private equity market.

GOVERNANCE
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EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR

After the end of the financial year, Tesi has given one com-

mitment to a Finnish buyout fund (details to be published 

later) and also made direct investments in Viria and Zervant.

 
OUTLOOK

The prospects for Finland’s economy over the short-term 

have become positive, which promises fair winds for the 

venture capital and private equity market as well. As a small 

market, Finland is sensitive to external shocks, such as dis-

ruptions in world trade, sharp falls in asset values or a faster 

than expected rise in interest rates.

Tesi’s strategic themes for 2018 are development of the 

venture capital and private equity market, active ownership 

as well as corporate responsibility and sustainable develop-

ment. Alongside the catalytic risk financing that Tesi offers 

itself, Tesi develops the Finnish venture capital and private 

equity market through channelling private and international 

capital and expertise into funds and companies in Finland. 

Tesi will continue to cooperate closely with the EIF and 

the EIB in channelling EU funds into Finnish venture capital 

funds and growth companies.

Responsible investment has become an integral part of 

investors’ everyday activities. Impact investing is expected 

to be the next growing trend in responsible investment. 

Tesi views corporate responsibility from the viewpoint of 

business opportunities and sustainable development. The 

objective for 2018 is that a target promoting responsible 

business operations is defined in at least one-half of actively 

managed portfolio companies. Over one-half of first-round 

investments implement at least one of the UN’s sustainable 

development goals.

In fund investments, the emphasis will increasingly be 

on venture capital funds and small buyout funds. Tesi will 

expand the investor base of Finnish funds with both domes-

tic and international investors. This will provide funds with 

more private capital, allowing them to finance their portfolio 

companies longer. A number of new Finnish management 

companies are in the process of fund-raising, and projects 

arising from this are expected to emerge during 2018 and 

2019.

In line with its current investment focus, Tesi will contin-

ue direct minority investments in SMEs seeking growth and 

in industrial investments. The focus for direct investments 

will be on the Industrial Renewal and International Co-in-

vestors investment programmes. New strategic objectives 

for direct investments will be the circular economy and 

artificial intelligence.

Good returns from previous financial years give Tesi 

strong resources for long-term investment operations that 

promote the growth of Finnish companies.
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KEY FIGURES, GROUP
IFRS
2017

IFRS
2016

IFRS
2015

IFRS
2014

FAS
2013

Profit/loss for the financial year, €m 65,7 44,6 86,4 -25,7 -7,6

Shareholders’ equity, €m 978,2 912,5 867,9 676,5 559,7

Balance sheet total, €m 1020,3 943,0 895,3 694,5 561,5

Unpaid commitments, €m 367,4 305,5 265,0 256,0 270,1

Investments at acquisition price, €m 496,0 526,2 503,4 528,6 493,2

Investments at acquisition price and commitments, €m 863,4 831,7 768,4 784,6 763,3

Investments at book value, €m 560,1 525,2 459,8 414,2 367,7

Ratio of investments and commitments to shareholder’s equity 0,9 0,9 0,8 1,0 1,1

New commitments during financial year, €m 148,8 164,6 93,0 81,5 130,2

Return on equity 6,9 % 5,0 % 11,2 % -4,2 % -1,4 %

Equity ratio 95,9 % 96,8 % 96,9 % 97,4 % 99,7 %

Expenses per investments under management 0,6 % 0,8 % 0,8 % 0,8 % 0,7 %

Personnel, average 32 34 31 31 30

Salaries and fees for the financial year, €m 3,7 3,9 3,6 3,2 2,9

Fund investments, total number 91 93 91 90 88

Funds, number of portfolio companies 660 677 617 544 446

Parent company, number of portfolio companies 37 36 37 42 45

Start Fund I Ky, number of portfolio companies 0 6 14 22 25

Tesi Industrial Management Oy, number of portfolio companies 5 4 2 2 1

Portfolio companies, total number 702 723 670 610 517

Key figures
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EUR THOUSANDS NOTE 1 Jan–31 Dec 2017 1 Jan–31 Dec 2016

Net gains from venture capital & private equity funds 5 53 363 27 570

Net gains from direct investments 5 15 386 18 060

Net gains from investments, total 68 748 45 631

Net gains from financial securities 18 282 16 962

Income from fund management 372 447

Other operating income, total 18 654 17 409

Employee benefit costs 6 -4 470 -4 737

Depreciation and impairment -228 -139

Other operating expenses 7 -2 519 -2 981

Operating profit / loss 80 185 55 184

Financial income and expenses, total -129 18

Profit / loss before income tax 80 056 55 202

Income tax 8 -14 387 -10 601

Profit / loss for the financial year 65 669 44 601

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 65 669 44 601

Profit for the financial year attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent company 65 669 44 601

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
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EUR THOUSANDS NOTE 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Venture capital and private equity investments

Fund investments 4 371 500 335 736

Direct investments 4 188 558 189 415

Venture capital and private equity investments, total 560 058 525 151

Tangible and intangible assets 9 817 517

Deferred tax assets 11 7 672 7 241

Non-current assets, total 568 547 532 909

Current assets 

Receivables 287 145

Financial securities 4 445 289 403 645

Cash and cash equivalents 6 198 6 282

Current assets, total 451 774 410 072

Assets, total 1 020 321 942 981

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent company

Equity

Share capital 438 992 438 992

Share premium account 215 855 215 855

Retained earnings 257 638 213 037

Profit for the financial year 65 669 44 601

Shareholders’ equity, total 978 155 912 485

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 11 30 578 27 849

Non-current liabilities, total 30 578 27 849

Current liabilities 

Accounts payable and other liabilities 10 11 588 2 646

Current liabilities, total 11 588 2 646

Liabilities, total 42 166 30 495

Equity and liabilities, total 1 020 321 942 981

Consolidated statement of financial position 
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EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY

EUR THOUSANDS Share capital
Share premium 

account Retained earnings
Shareholders’  

equity, total

1.1.2016 438 992 215 855 213 037 867 884

Profit for the financial year 44 601 44 601

Total comprehensive income  
for the financial year

44 601 44 601

Shareholders’ equity 31 Dec 2016 438 992 215 855 257 638 912 485

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY

EUR THOUSANDS Share capital
Share premium 

account Retained earnings
Shareholders’  

equity, total

1.1.2017 438 992 215 855 257 638 912 485

Profit for the financial year 65 669 65 669

Total comprehensive income  
for the financial year

65 669 65 669

Shareholders’ equity 31 Dec 2017 438 992 215 855 323 307 978 155

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

The company has one class of share.     
The number of shares at 31 December 2017 and at 31 December 2016 was 41,710.    
The shares have no nominal value.    
All the shares issued are fully paid up.    
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EUR THOUSANDS 1 JAN–31 DEC 2017 1 JAN–31 DEC 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Capital calls paid to funds -59 399 -62 485

Cash flows received from funds 76 997 80 419

Direct investments paid -28 798 -62 632

Repayments of direct investments and sales proceeds 41 390 19 763

Interest received from venture capital and private equity investments 2 047 608

Dividends received from venture capital and private equity investments 1 604 4 575

Cash flow from venture capital and private equity investments, total 33 841 -19 752

Payments for financial securities -235 356 -64 522

Sales proceeds from financial securities 211 993 97 454

Payments received from other operating income 385 447

Payments made for operating expenses -8 204 -6 927

Cash flow from operating activities before taxes 2 660 6 701

Direct taxes paid -2 216 -3 227

Cash flow from operations (A) 443 3 474

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for tangible and intangible assets -528 -433

Cash flow from investing activities (B) -528 -433

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash flow from financing activities (C) 0 0

Change in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) increase (+)/decrease (-) -84 3 041

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 6 282 3 241

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 6 198 6 282

Consolidated statement of cash flows
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GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE GROUP

Finnish Industry Investment Ltd (“Tesi”, “the Company”) is a 

state-owned investment company. Tesi’s mission is not only 

to be commercially profitable but also to develop Finland’s 

venture capital and private equity market as well as to pro-

mote Finnish business and Finland’s economic growth.

Tesi is domiciled in Helsinki, and the address of its 

registered office is Porkkalankatu 1, 00180 Helsinki, Finland. 

Copies of the consolidated financial statements are available 

at the address mentioned above, as well as on the website 

www.tesi.fi. Tesi’s Board of Directors, in their meeting on 

15 February 2018, authorised these financial statements for 

issue. According to Finland’s Limited Liability Companies 

Act, the Annual General Meeting has the power to amend 

the financial statements.

Tesi invests in Finnish companies both directly and 

through private equity and venture capital funds. Our in-

vestments are focused on rapid growth, internationalisation, 

spin-offs and major industrial investments, as well as on 

sectoral, corporate and ownership restructurings. 

Tesi is a part of the national innovation system that 

seeks to stimulate Finnish industry and promote the 

development and deployment of new technology, while 

creating new growth companies, jobs and wellbeing. Tesi 

contributes to the innovation system services by providing 

venture capital and private equity financing to companies. 

Its key principle is to conduct its operations on market terms 

together with domestic and foreign investors and hand-in-

hand with them to increase their ability to take risks while 

also boosting the availability of funding, investment exper-

tise and networks.

Since 1995, Tesi has made venture capital and pri-

vate equity investments amounting to approximately one 

billion euros in total. Currently there are investments in 

702 companies, directly or through investment funds. The 

continuity and growth of our investment operations have 

been secured with government capitalisation as well as with 

financing from the company’s own income. 

Tesi’s operations are regulated by legislation (Act on 

State-Owned Company Suomen Teollisuussijoitus Oy) and 

government decree (Government Decree on State-Owned 

Company Suomen Teollisuussijoitus Oy). The law allows 

Tesi to accept a higher risk or a lower expected return when 

making individual investment decisions in order to pursue 

the Company’s mission in terms of trade and industrial 

policy. By law, the Company’s operations must be profitable 

over the long term.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Tesi’s consolidated financial statements have been pre-

pared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS), and they are in compliance with IAS and 

IFRS standards, as well as SIC and IFRIC interpretations, that 

are effective as at 31 December 2017 and are endorsed for 

application in the European Union. In the Finnish Account-

ing Act and regulations issued by virtue of it, ”IFRS” refers 

to standards and interpretations that have been endorsed 

by the EU in accordance with the procedure defined in the 

EU regulation (EY) No 1606/2002. The notes to the finan-

cial statements also meet the requirements of the Finnish 

accounting legislation and company law that are comple-

mentary to the requirements in the IFRS.

As from 1 January 2017, Tesi has applied following new 

and amended standards that have come into effect:

•  Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative. The chang-

es were made to enable users of financial statements 

to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 

activities, including both changes arising from cash 

flow and non-cash changes. 

•  Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax 

Assets for Unrealised Losses. The amendments clarify 

that the existence of a deductible temporary differ-

ence depends solely on a comparison of the carrying 

amount of an asset and its tax base at the end of the 

reporting period, and is not affected by possible future 

changes in the carrying amount or expected manner 

of recovery of the asset.

The updated standards have not had a significant effect on 

Tesi’s consolidated financial statements.

The primary measurement basis applied in the prepara-

tion of the financial statements is fair value, as all financial 

assets are measured at fair value. Other items are measured 

at cost or at amortised cost. The figures in the accounts are 

presented in euros, which is Tesi’s operational currency. The 

figures are given in thousands of euros, unless otherwise 

stated. 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance 

with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting esti-

mates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment 

in the process of applying the accounting policies. The most 

significant estimates and judgments are disclosed under ac-

counting policies, in section 2. Critical accounting estimates 

and judgments.

1. Summary of significant accounting policies
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ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR  
INVESTMENT ENTITIES

Tesi’s management has determined that Tesi meets the defi-

nition of investment entity in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 

Statements. Therefore, Tesi records the investees under its 

control at fair value through profit or loss, except for operat-

ing subsidiaries whose operations relate to investment ac-

tivities or which provide investment management services, 

unless those subsidiaries themselves meet the criteria for an 

investment entity. In summary:

•  Subsidiaries that provide fund management services 

are considered to be an extension to the parent com-

pany’s business activities and they are consolidated 

(Start Fund Management Oy and Tesi Fund Manage-

ment Oy);

•  Subsidiaries that are regarded as investment entities 

and through which Tesi makes its investments are 

measured at fair value through profit or loss (Tesi In-

dustrial Management Oy).

Tesi recognises investees in which it has significant influ-

ence at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsidiaries and their treatment in consolidated finan-

cial statements are described in more detail in the financial 

statements in note 14. 

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT OF 
FINANCIAL ASSETS

Tesi’s financial assets comprise venture capital and private 

equity investments, financial securities and cash and cash 

equivalents, which are grouped, at the date of acquisition, 

into classes that determine their basis of measurement. All 

purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the 

transaction date. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to re-

ceive cash flows from financial assets have expired or have 

been transferred to another party so that risks and rewards 

have been transferred. 

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS

Venture capital and private equity investments as well as 

financial securities are designated at initial recognition as at 

fair value through profit or loss, because they are managed 

and their performance is monitored by Tesi on the basis 

of fair value (application of the ‘fair value option’). Venture 

capital and private equity investments are in most cases 

non-current investments and are presented in the state-

ment of financial position under non-current assets. Finan-

cial securities consist mainly of investments in bond funds 

and equity funds. Financial securities are presented under 

current assets because of their nature and purpose.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value. 

Transaction costs are recorded as expenses immediately. 

After initial recognition, financial assets are measured at fair 

value at each reporting date, and both realised and unreal-

ised changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss in 

the period in which they arise. The net movements in the 

fair value of venture capital and private equity investments 

are presented in the income statement under “Net gains 

from venture capital and private equity investments”, and 

the movements in the fair value of financial securities are 

presented under “Net gains from financial securities”. Interest 

income and dividend income are included in the net move-

ment in fair value. The basis for the determination of fair 

value is disclosed in note 4. Determination of fair value.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and demand 

deposits. 

ITEMS DENOMINATED IN FOREIGN CURRENCY

Business transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at 

the equivalent amounts of the operational currency at the 

rates of exchange valid on the transaction date. Exchange 

rate differences are charged or credited to the income state-

ment. For financing, exchange rate differences are presented 

as net amounts in financial income and financial expenses.

TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Tangible assets comprise machinery and equipment as well 

as leasehold improvements, and they are carried in the bal-

ance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation with any 

impairment losses. Tangible assets are depreciated over their 

useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated 

useful lives by class of assets are as follows:

• Machinery and equipment 3-5 years

• Leasehold improvements 5-10 years

Intangible assets include intangible rights consisting of com-

puter software. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are 

recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation. Intangible 

assets are amortised over their useful lives on a straight-line 

basis. The estimated useful life of software is five years.

RECEIVABLES

Receivables consist mainly of deferred expenses and ac-

crued income that are entered at amortised cost.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Tesi has minor amounts of current financial liabilities (ac-

counts payable), which are measured at amortised cost due 

to their short maturities.
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LEASES
Leases are classified at the inception as finance leases or op-

erating leases based on whether the lease transfers substan-

tially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Leases that transfer to the lessee substantially all the risks 

and rewards incidental to the ownership of the asset are 

classified as finance leases.

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operat-

ing leases, and they are included in the balance sheet of the 

lessor. Payments made under operating leases are charged 

to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the lease.

The leases entered by Tesi are classified as operating 

leases.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS

Tesi’s pension plans are classified as defined contribution 

plans. Under a defined contribution plan, the Company pays 

into publicly or privately administered pension insuranc-

es contributions that may be mandatory and contractual. 

Tesi has no obligations to make any payments apart from 

these contributions. The contributions paid are recorded as 

employee benefit when they are due. Contributions paid in 

advance are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash 

refund or a reduction of future payments is available.

All the personnel of the Company are covered by an an-

nual bonus scheme. The annual bonus is determined based 

on performance both on company level and on a personal 

level. The Board of Directors sets the targets beforehand and 

subsequently assesses the achievement of the targets. 

INCOME TAX

The income tax charge in the income statement includes 

both current and deferred tax. The current income tax 

charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted 

or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. The 

amount is adjusted by any taxes relating to prior periods. 

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences 

arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 

their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred 

income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that are 

enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date 

and that are expected to be applied when the related de-

ferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent 

that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 

against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets are reviewed annually and assessed in 

relation to the group’s ability to generate sufficient taxable 

profit in the future. Deferred tax liabilities are entered in full.

FORTHCOMING REQUIREMENTS 
Tesi has not yet applied the following new or updated 

standards and interpretations already published by IASB. The 

Group will start to apply each standard and interpretation as 

from the date it enters into force or, if the date of entry into 

force is other than the first day of a financial year, as from 

the start of the following financial year.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and amendments thereto 

(effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 

2018) The new standard replaces the current IAS 39 Finan-

cial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 

includes revised guidance on the classification and mea-

surement of financial instruments, including a new expected 

credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial 

assets. The classification and measurement of financial lia-

bilities are largely the same as in the current IAS 39 require-

ments. Tesi has no derivative instruments and the measure-

ment of financial assets in the balance sheet is based on fair 

value. The classification of financial assets will also remain 

unchanged. The standard will therefore have no significant 

effect on Tesi’s consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, Effec-

tive date of IFRS 15 and Clarifications to IFRS 15 (effective for 

financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018): The 

new standard replaces current IAS 18 and IAS 11 -standards 

and related interpretations. In IFRS 15 a five-step model is 

applied to determine when to recognise revenue, and at 

what amount. Revenue is recognised when (or as) a com-

pany transfers control of goods or services to a customer ei-

ther over time or at a point in time. The standard introduces 

also extensive new disclosure requirements. Tesi’s income 

flows come mainly from realised and unrealised changes in 

the fair value of venture capital and private equity funds and 

from direct VC & PE investments, as well as from interest 

and dividends from direct investments, none of which are 

regulated by the IFRS 15 standard. Management income 

does not comprise variable considerations or separate 

payment liabilities that could create a risk that management 

income already recognised would later need to be recalled. 

The standard will therefore have no significant effect on 

Tesi’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases (effective for financial years beginning 

on or after 1 January 2019): The new standard replaces the 

current IAS 17-standard and related interpretations. IFRS 16 

requires the lessees to recognise the lease agreements on 

the balance sheet as a right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. 

There are two exceptions available, these relate to either short 

term contacts in which the lease term is 12 months or less, or 

to low value items i.e. assets of value about USD 5,000 or less. 

Tesi has started to assess the impact of the standard.

Other amendments to standards have no impact on 

Tesi’s consolidated financial statements.
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The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 

IFRS requires management to make estimates and assump-

tions that have an effect on the amounts reported in the 

consolidated financial statements and in the notes. Actual 

outcomes may differ from these estimates. Furthermore, 

judgment is needed in the application of accounting poli-

cies. Estimates and assumptions made by management are 

based on historical experience and forecasts for the future 

and are continually evaluated.

APPLICATION OF THE INVESTMENT ENTITY 
EXCEPTION

Tesi’s management has determined that Tesi is an invest-

ment entity as defined in IFRS 10, because it meets the 

criteria of an investment entity. Tesi’s business mission is 

to invest solely for returns from capital appreciation and 

investment income. Although the objective of Tesi’s oper-

ations is also the development of and support for business 

activity in Finland, this objective is pursued solely by means 

of investing in venture capital and private equity, and thus 

the Company’s earnings are obtained from capital appre-

ciation and other investment income. Venture capital and 

private equity funds have, by nature of the funds and the life 

cycle model, an exit strategy for their investments. There is 

also a documented exit strategy for each direct investment. 

Management monitors the development of investments 

on the basis of fair values, and fair values are determined at 

least once in every six months. According to assessment by 

the management, the following characteristics support the 

classification of Tesi as an investment entity: It has more 

than one investment, and its ownership interests are in the 

form of equity interests. An investment entity ordinarily 

has more than one investor. Tesi’s principal investor is the 

Finnish state, representing the interests of a wider group 

of investors. Furthermore, Tesi manages funds in which 

pension funds are acting as investors. The pension funds are 

unrelated to Tesi, which is also one of the typical character-

istics of an investment entity. 

DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE

The most critical area in the financial statements that 

involves uncertainty relating to estimates and assumptions 

is the determination of the fair value of venture capital 

and private equity investments. Because of the degree of 

uncertainty involved in the measurement and the stability 

of values of non-liquid venture capital and private equity in-

vestments, the fair values of those investments are not nec-

essarily representative of the price that would be obtained 

from the realisation of the investments. The fair values of 

venture capital and private equity investments are described 

in more detail in note 4. Determination of fair value.

INCOME TAX 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for tempo-

rary differences arising between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities in the balance sheet and their tax bases. 

The most significant temporary differences relate to the 

difference between the fair value and tax bases of venture 

capital and private equity investments and financial secu-

rities. Other temporary differences arise, for example, from 

tax losses carried forward, for which the Company assesses 

opportunities for utilisation against future taxable profits. 

Assumptions about the future used in this assessment in-

volve uncertainty relating to matters such as the exit values 

of investments, the timing of the exits and final tax impacts. 

More information is presented in note 8. Income tax and in 

note 11. Deferred taxes.

2. Critical accounting estimates 
and judgments
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GENERAL INFORMATION AND AREAS OF RISK

The Company has a risk management policy, confirmed 

by the Board of Directors, which sets out the principles 

for the Company’s risk management, risk definitions and 

risk classifications, as well as defining the main roles and 

divisions of responsibilities and the monitoring and reporting 

procedures. The goal for risk management is to ensure that 

risks borne by the company are commensurate with its 

risk-bearing capability. Risk-bearing capability is managed by 

carefully planning investment operations and by managing 

investments. The objective of risk management is to 

ensure that the risks attached to the Company’s business 

operations are identified and assessed, that the Company 

responds to those risks, and that they are managed and 

monitored. Risk management supports achievement of 

the goals set for profitability in the Company’s strategy and 

action plan.

The Company’s Board of Directors confirms the Com-

pany’s strategy and action plan, in which the targets for 

different investment allocation classes are specified. In order 

to reduce risks, investments are deconcentrated to different 

allocation classes, different industries, different stages of de-

velopment of investees, different time perspectives and also 

geographically, particularly with regard to investments in 

financial securities. Operative management is responsible for 

preparing and implementing investments. The Board makes 

investment decisions and supervises the implementation of 

investments.

Tesi’s main risks are related to private equity and venture 

capital investments, and to financial securities. Both involve 

various investment risks, including business risks attached to 

venture capital and private equity investments, liquidity risks, 

market risks and credit risks. The most significant uncer-

tainty regarding the accuracy of the company’s financial 

statements relates to the inclusion of different investment 

risks in the measurement of venture capital and private 

equity investments (valuation risk). The process for the 

determination of fair values of venture capital and private 

equity investments is described in note 4. Determination 

of fair value. The table below shows the fair values of the 

company’s investment allocation at 31 December 2017 and 

31 December 2016.

Other risks to which Tesi is exposed include strategic 

risks, operational risks, risks of loss or damage, and risks for 

3. Financial risk management

€M 31 DEC 2017 % 31 DEC 2016 %

Venture capital & private equity funds 372 36 % 336 36 %

Venture capital 162 16 % 141 15 %

Later stage 147 14 % 141 15 %

Funds-of-funds 62 6 % 53 6 %

Direct investments 189 19 % 189 20 %

Venture capital 55 5 % 54 6 %

Later stage 134 13 % 136 15 %

Financial securities 451 44 % 404 43 %

Bond funds 306 30 % 302 32 %

Equity funds 110 11 % 86 9 %

Other investments 36 4 % 16 2 %

Cash & cash equivalents 6 1 % 6 1 %

Total 1018 100 % 935 100 %

DISTRIBUTION OF FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS
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reputation. Strategic risks are managed by regularly evalu-

ating the Company’s operations in relation to the business 

environment and to stakeholders’ expectations. Operational 

risks are managed by good corporate governance and inter-

nal instructions, and these risks are covered by insurances.

BUSINESS RISK ATTACHED TO VENTURE CAPITAL 
AND PRIVATE EQUITY INVESTMENTS 

The Company’s venture capital and private equity invest-

ments, whether through venture capital or private equity 

funds or as direct investments, are mainly made in unquot-

ed companies in the starting phase or in growth companies. 

The development of the value of these small and medi-

um-sized portfolio companies is often affected by com-

pany-specific risks rather than by the general market risk 

described in the following paragraph.

The operations of companies that are in the starting 

phase, so-called venture capital allocation companies, 

typically generate negative cash flows. These companies 

often pursue strong international growth based on new 

innovations and/or revenue generation models and enabled 

by risk capital financing from venture capital and private eq-

uity investors. It is characteristic of high-risk venture capital 

investments that not all starting-phase target companies 

will succeed because of the realisation of risks relating to 

technology, business models, strategies, commercialisation, 

competitors, key personnel or obtaining further financing.

 Companies in the growth phase allocation have nor-

mally achieved positive profitability, and the aforementioned 

risks relating to the venture phase are typically lower. How-

ever, active ownership by venture capital and private equity 

investors clearly raises the target level of business growth 

strategies of these companies through, for example, stronger 

internationalisation, structural arrangements, new capital 

investments or well-considered utilisation of debt lever-

age and thus increases the companies’ overall risk profile. 

Furthermore, the development of macroeconomic environ-

ment has, on average, a more direct impact on the business 

activities of more mature companies. 

Business risks also comprise the counterparty risk for 

Tesi’s co-investors, which refers to uncertainties relating 

to individual co-investors in situations such as follow-on 

financing of portfolio companies. The management of this 

co-investor risk is emphasised in Tesi’s operating model as 

it always co-operates with private investors such that in any 

individual financing case, private investments cover at least 

50% of the financing.

Tesi manages the investment-specific risks relating to 

its venture capital and private equity investment targets 

through predictive generation of deal flow, careful analysis 

in the screening phase, selective choosing of investees and 

co-investors, monitoring of investments, active interaction 

towards managers of venture capital and private equity 

funds, administrative participation in the development of the 

business activities of direct portfolio companies, and active 

participation in the exit phase of investments.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk management ensures that the Company has 

adequate funding available for its venture capital and private 

equity investment activities (unpaid commitments). The de-

velopment of cash flows related to the Company’s liquidity, 

financial securities and venture capital and private equity in-

vestments is continuously monitored. When preparing new 

investments, the effect of the investments on liquidity and 

financial position is taken into account. Most of the Compa-

ny’s cash flows and investments are denominated in euros.

Investments in financial securities are made at the 

selected risk level in compliance with the investment 

policy confirmed by the Board of Directors. Investments in 

financial securities aim to ensure adequate assets for private 

equity investing and other payment transactions. Operative 

management is responsible for investment operations with-

in limits set by the existing investment plans.

Investments in financial securities are spread mainly 

between investments in bond funds, investments in equity 

funds, and investments on the financial market. The market 

volatility of financial securities is regularly monitored. Invest-

ing activities relating to financial securities have mostly been 

outsourced with a discretionary mandate to asset managers 

supervised by the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority. 

The market volatility of financial securities is monitored 

regularly and counterparty risk is managed by selecting 

partners carefully. 

At 31 December 2017, the fair value of the Company’s 

cash and cash equivalents and financial securities amounted 
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to €451.5m (€409.9m) and the amount of unpaid investment 

commitments was €367m (€305m). Unpaid investment 

commitments consist almost entirely of commitments 

given to venture capital and private equity funds with an av-

erage payment period of over four years. The Company also 

runs strategic direct investment programmes, for which it 

has received targeted government funding. A total of €60m 

in government funding received still remains to be used for 

these investment programmes as at 31 December 2017.

MARKET RISK

Market risk refers to the impact of general market fluctu-

ations (such as stock market, bond market and currency 

market fluctuations) in the value and value trends of invest-

ments. Besides the direct exposure to market risk relating to 

the Company’s investments in financial securities, general 

market fluctuations may also have an indirect impact on the 

fair values of direct portfolio companies and funds in the 

Company’s venture capital and private equity allocation.

Market risks are mitigated by spreading the investments 

between different allocation classes (different market risk 

categories) for both the Company’s financial securities and 

venture capital and private equity investments. Furthermore, 

important methods of risk management to mitigate general 

cyclical fluctuations for venture capital and private equity 

investments include a time-driven diversification of invest-

ments, acquisition of non-cyclic portfolio companies, avoid-

ance of over-aggressive debt structures and the continuing 

development of portfolio companies.

The Company’s fixed income investments had a fair 

value of €299m as at 31 December 2017, representing the 

largest portion of the Company’s €445m financial securi-

ties portfolio. The market risks that affect the value of fixed 

income investments consist of the risks associated with 

changes in general market interest rates and also of the 

spread risk. The computational weighted duration of the 

Company’s fixed income investment portfolio at 31 Decem-

ber 2017 was 3.0 years, and a hypothetical increase in the 

general interest rate level by one percentage point would 

decrease the fair value of the Company’s fixed income 

investments by an estimated amount of €9m. 

The fair value of equity investments included in financial 

securities as at 31 December 2017 was €110m. A decrease 

of 10% in share prices would decrease the value of equity 

investments by €11m. 

Most of the Company’s cash flows and investments are 

denominated in euros. The Company does not hedge its 

currency risks. 

The table presents the distribution of private equity and 

venture capital investments, financial securities and cash & 

cash equivalents by currency, and also 

a sensitivity analysis of the currency risk if a currency 

were to change by 10% against the euro. When examining 

the sensitivity analysis, it should be noted that currency-de-

31 DEC 2017
€M

EURO 
€M

USD  
€M

SEK 
 €M

DKK  
€M

NOK  
€M

OTHERS 
 €M

TOTAL  
€M

VC & PE funds 278 20 57 11 4 0 372

Financial securities and cash & 
cash equivalents

379 27 4 3 1 38 451

Direct investments 186 1 2 189

Total 843 48 61 14 6 40 1 012

Sensitivity analysis
Impact of 10% change in  
exchange rate on profit 4 6 1 1 4 15

Unpaid commitments to  
venture capital and private 
equity funds

314 13 20 9 1 357
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nominated fair values of private equity and venture capital 

funds are presented in euro amounts equivalent to the 

reporting currency of the fund. The direct effect on profit 

or loss caused by a change in the exchange rate is calculat-

ed based on these, assuming no variation in other factors. 

Funds can also make investments denominated in other 

currencies than the reporting currency. Furthermore, vari-

ations in exchange rates can also have an effect on the fair 

value of fund investments if exchange rates impact the profit 

or loss of portfolio companies and their valuations.

Additionally, when examining the Company’s currency 

risks, the Company’s unpaid currency-denominated invest-

ment commitments to private equity and venture capital 

funds should be taken into account.

CREDIT RISK

The credit risk for the Company’s venture capital and private 

equity investments is mainly related to direct investments 

made in portfolio companies by using debt instruments. 

These are typically fixed-interest mezzanine instruments. 

The fair value of debt instruments included in direct venture 

capital and private equity investments at 31 December 2017 

was €27.8m, representing some 5% of the total fair value of 

venture capital and private equity investments.

On the other hand, credit risk relating to financial securi-

ties arises from investments in publicly-quoted bond funds, 

such as government and corporate bonds. The Company’s 

portfolio of bond funds is highly diversified, and accordingly 

the credit risk relating to individual governments, industries 

or enterprises is relatively small.
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND  
INVESTMENT RETURNS 

The Company is financed by equity, and it has no formal 

dividend policy. Debt leverage is used in the financing struc-

tures of some portfolio companies but not in the Company’s 

venture capital and private equity funds at fund level. The 

Company is not subject to any specific solvency require-

ments, but it has internally set risk limits for the ratio of the 

total portfolio of venture capital and private equity invest-

ments to the total equity of the Company, as well as for the 

ratio of unpaid commitments to liquid assets.

The statutory objective of the Company is to be com-

mercially profitable over the long-term, taking into account 

the imposed economic impact goals. The table below con-

tains the Company’s investment returns (fair value changes) 

before taxes and operating costs from its venture capital 

& private equity and financial securities allocations for the 

financial years 2013-2017. As the Company’s venture capital 

and private equity investments are long-term by nature, the 

Company’s financial performance is also better evaluated 

over a longer time period.

The state’s investment in the Company’s shareholders’ 

equity amounted to €655m at the end of 2017. Consolidated 

shareholders’ equity at the end of 2017 totalled €987m. The 

Company’s cumulative profit from operations for the finan-

cial year, including the figure for 2017, amounted to €323m.

ALLOCATION / FINANCIAL YEAR 2013* 2014 2015 2016 2017
Total 

2013–2017

Gains from VC & PE investments (€M) -9 -40 109 46 69 175

Gains from financial securities (€M) 11 14 6 17 18 67

Total (€M) 2 -25 115 63 87 242

Gains from VC & PE investments (%)** -2,2 % -9,5 % 24,9 % 9,3 % 12,7 % 8,1 %

Gains from financial securities (%)** 5,4 % 6,4 % 1,9 % 4,1 % 4,2 % 4,8 %

Total 0,3 % -3,9 % 14,9 % 6,9 % 9,0 % 6,8 %

* Figures for 2013 are not audited. 
**  Percentages for gains of allocations are calculated by dividing the gain for the year by the average capital invested.  

Capital invested is calculated as an average of the fair values at the start and end of the year.    
   

GAINS BEFORE TAXES FROM TESI’S INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES AND COMPANY’S EXPENSES 2013–2017
(GAINS = CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE)
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BASIS FOR DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE 
FOR VENTURE CAPITAL AND PRIVATE EQUITY 
INVESTMENTS

The determination of the fair value of the Company’s ven-

ture capital and private equity investments is, in accordance 

with industry practice, based on Private Equity and Venture 

Capital Valuation Guidelines (IPEVG). Due to the nature of 

typically illiquid venture capital and private equity invest-

ments, the determination of the fair value of investments 

requires Tesi’s management to use judgment and make 

estimates.

According to the fundamental principle of IPEVG, fair 

value reflects the price that would be received in an orderly 

arm’s length transaction on an active market between hypo-

thetical participants on the measurement date. Accordingly, 

fair value does not reflect the price that would be received 

in a so-called forced sale. Fair value measurement uses 

either one most suitable valuation technique or several 

complementary methods that are widely recognised in the 

industry. When determining fair values, the Company pays 

special attention to the estimated future profitability and 

business risks attached to the portfolio companies, especial-

ly relating to the financial condition of the companies.

INVESTMENTS IN VENTURE CAPITAL  
AND PRIVATE EQUITY FUNDS

The starting point for the determination of the fair values of 

the Company’s investments in venture capital and private 

equity funds, i.e. the fair values of the holdings in the funds, 

are the latest available values reported by fund managers 

(so-called net asset value or NAV). Fund managers derive 

the values for the holdings from the fair values determined 

by the fund in accordance with IPEVG for its investments 

in target companies, adding/deducting any other assets/

liabilities of the fund. The determination of the fair values of 

holdings in the funds excludes unpaid fund commitments 

relating to the holdings, to which the Company is legally 

committed together with other investors of the funds.

Holdings in funds are typically more illiquid instruments 

than direct venture capital of private equity investments. The 

Company’s fundamental investment strategy is not to buy 

or sell holdings in funds during the term of the funds.

The measurement of the holdings in funds may deviate 

from the amounts reported by fund managers, if the fair 

value reported by the managers is not considered to reflect 

the real fair value of the investments or if the reported fair 

value refers to a different point of time. Deviation from the 

value reported by the fund manager is always based on 

fair value testing performed by the Company. Fair value is 

always tested for funds classified to a risk listing determined 

by the Company. The risk listing comprises those funds 

whose investment operations have, according to a risk re-

view performed, not developed as originally determined and 

the results of whose investment operations are expected to 

clearly fall short of the targets set previously.

DIRECT VENTURE CAPITAL AND PRIVATE  
EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Depending on the varying overall status of the portfolio 

companies, the determination of the fair value of the Com-

pany’s direct venture capital and private equity investments 

is based on either on the one most suitable valuation 

techniques or a combination of several complementary 

methods. The techniques applied comply with IPEVG and 

include recent transactions in the portfolio companies’ own 

instruments, valuation multiples of peer companies and 

discounted cash flows. Both the selection of techniques 

and the actual valuation performed by using the techniques 

requires substantial use of estimates and judgment by the 

management of the Company.

The fair values of the Company’s investments in debt 

instruments are typically estimated through the viewpoint of 

the value of the portfolio companies’ businesses (fair value 

without liabilities, i.e. enterprise value), because, in the Com-

pany’s venture capital and private equity investments, debt 

instruments are often an integral part of the total investment 

in the portfolio companies together with the Company’s 

investments in equity instruments.

4. Determination of fair value
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THE FAIR VALUE DETERMINATION PROCESS 
FOR VENTURE CAPITAL AND PRIVATE EQUITY 
INVESTMENTS

Fair values of the Company’s venture capital and private 

equity investments are determined by the responsible in-

vestment teams. Thereafter, valuation proposals prepared by 

investment teams are assessed within a separate risk man-

agement function before the valuations are introduced to 

the Management Group for approval. After the Management 

Group, the values are considered by the audit committee 

and finally approved by the Board of Directors. 

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY FOR FINANCIAL ASSETS 
MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

Tesi’s venture capital and private equity investments include 

a minor amount of quoted equity securities. Investments in 

venture capital and private equity funds classified as financial 

securities are quoted, their market prices are observable and 

there is an active secondary market for the fund units. The 

fair values of all other equity and debt investments as well as 

investments in venture capital and private equity funds are 

determined using valuation techniques that to a significant 

degree rely on company-specific, unobservable inputs. 

Fair value hierarchy and related input levels are defined 

by IFRS 13 as follows:

•  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 

markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 

can access at the measurement date.

•  Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices 

included within level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability either directly or indirectly.

•  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or 

liability.

At the highest level in the fair value hierarchy are quoted 

prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities (level 1 inputs), and at the lowest level are unob-

servable inputs (level 3 inputs). A quoted price in an active 

market is the most reliable evidence of fair value and it shall, 

as a rule, be used in the determination of fair value whenev-

er available.

When the inputs to be used to measure the fair value of 

an asset or a liability are categorised within different levels of 

the fair value hierarchy, the item is categorised in its entirety 

in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest 

level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 

The tables below show an analysis of the hierarchy of 

fair value measurements.
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The tables below show an analysis of the hierarchy of fair value measurements    

31 DEC 2017, EUR THOUSANDS LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL

Venture capital and private equity funds

Venture capital 162 453 162 453

Later stage 147 164 147 164

Funds of funds 61 883 61 883

Direct investments 

Venture capital 54 750 54 750

Later stage 5 399 128 408 133 807

Financial securities 
Bond funds 299 479 299 479

Equity funds 109 876 109 876

Other investments 35 935 35 935

Total 450 689 0 554 659 1 005 347

Direct investments include equity investments €160,7m and debt investments €27,8m.

The content of investments is specified in more detail in Note 3. Risk management

31 DEC 2016, EUR THOUSANDS LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL

Venture capital and private equity funds

Venture capital 140 888 140 888

Later stage 141 478 141 478

Funds of funds 53 370 53 370

Direct investments 

Venture capital 53 761 53 761

Later stage 7 238 128 417 135 654

Financial securities 
Bond funds 301 908 301 908

Equity funds 85 606 85 606

Other investments 16 131 16 131

Total 410 882 0 517 914 928 796

Direct investments include equity investments €155.5m and debt investments €33.9m
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INVESTMENT  
CLASSIFICATION,  
EUR THOUSANDS 1.1.

Total gains  
and losses  

recognised in  
the income  

statement Additions Decreases 31.12.2016

Venture capital and private equity funds

Venture capital 129 622 12 022 20 921 -21 678 140 888

Later stage 154 177 11 731 29 887 -54 318 141 478

Funds of funds 42 300 3 817 11 676 -4 424 53 370

Direct investments 

Venture capital 36 429 1 506 20 536 -4 710 53 761

Later stage 83 973 22 183 34 140 -11 879 128 417

Total 446 501 51 260 117 161 -97 008 517 914

Change in unrealised gains and losses recognised in income statement under net gains from venture capital  
and private equity investments for Level 3 assets held at the end of period: 22 108

Changes in level 3 financial assets measured at fair value:  

INVESTMENT  
CLASSIFICATION,  
EUR THOUSANDS 1.1.

Total gains  
and losses  

recognised in  
the income  

statement Additions Decreases 31.12.2017

Venture capital and private equity funds 

Venture capital 140 888 26 995 23 705 -29 135 162 453

Later stage 141 478 21 407 25 975 -41 697 147 164

Funds of funds 53 370 4 960 9 719 -6 166 61 883

Direct investments 

Venture capital 53 761 5 970 20 061 -25 043 54 750

Later stage 128 417 6 310 8 736 -15 054 128 408

Total 517 914 65 642 88 197 -117 094 554 659

Change in unrealised gains and losses recognised in income statement under net gains from venture capital 
and private equity investments for Level 3 assets held at the end of period: 24 014
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INVESTMENT  
CLASSIFICATION

Fair value  
31 Dec 2017  
€ thousands Valuation model

Non-observable 
input or implicit 

valuation  
parameters

Applied input or 
implicit valua-

tion parameters 
(weighted  

average)

Change in  
measurement if 

input changes 
+/- 20%

Venture capital and private equity funds

Venture capital 140 888

Fair value
Values reported by fund management 
companies +/- adjustments made as a 

result of value testing*

28 178

Later stage 141 478 28 296

Funds of funds 53 370 10 674

Direct investments   

Venture capital 53 761 Portfolio company 
instrument  

transactions  
/ Peer group

Valuation  
multiples**

EV/Net sales  
2016 (3.3x)

10 752

Later stage 128 417
EV/EBITDA  
2016 (8.2x)

25 683

Sensitivity analysis for level 3 financial assets  

* Fair value testing of venture capital and private equity funds performed by the Company resulted in a fair value that was, in total, 4 million euros lower than the values reported 
by fund management companies as at 31 December 2017. 

** The weighted EV-based valuation multiple calculations include only the impact from those target companies to which applying multiples as a valuation metric is reasonable. 
For example, in the venture capital allocation, the impacts of those target companies which generate still only very limited net sales and of later-stage target companies with 
negative EBITDA are not included. 
 

INVESTMENT  
CLASSIFICATION

Fair value  
31 Dec 2017  
€ thousands Valuation model

Non-observable 
input or implicit 

valuation  
parameters

Applied input or 
implicit valua-

tion parameters 
(weighted  

average)

Change in  
measurement if 

input changes 
+/- 20%

Venture capital and private equity funds

Venture capital 162 453

Fair value
Values reported by fund management 
companies +/- adjustments made as a 

result of value testing*

32 491

Later stage 147 164 29 433

Funds of funds 61 883 12 377

Direct investments   

Venture capital 54 750 Portfolio company 
instrument  

transactions  
/ Peer group

Valuation  
multiples**

EV/Net sales  
2017 (3.4x)

9 466

Later stage 128 408
EV/EBITDA  
2017 (7.9x)

18 451
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COMPANY DOMICILE OWNERSHIP %
ORIGINAL INVESTMENT 

COMMITMENT EUR

Aboa Venture II Ky Turku 14,0 % 1 345 503

Aboa Venture III Ky Turku 30,8 % 3 500 000

Armada Mezzanine Fund II Ky Helsinki 11,5 % 5 000 000

Armada Mezzanine Fund III Ky Helsinki 11,3 % 10 000 000

Armada Mezzanine Fund IV Ky Helsinki 4,9 % 5 000 000

Atomico IV (Guernsey), L.P. Guernsey 5,4 % 6 626 612

Balderton Capital V, L.P. Delaware USA 3,1 % 6 831 892

Balderton Capital VI, S.L.P. Luxemburg 2,3 % 7 448 300

CapMan Buyout IX Fund A L.P. Guernsey 3,4 % 10 000 000

CapMan Buyout VIII Fund A L.P. Guernsey 2,8 % 10 000 000

CapMan Buyout X Fund B Ky Helsinki 13,9 % 10 000 000

CapMan Equity VII A L.P. Guernsey 6,4 % 10 000 000

CapMan Growth Equity Fund 2017 Ky Helsinki 3,5 % 3 000 000

CapMan Life Science IV Fund L.P. Guernsey 18,5 % 10 000 000

CapMan Mezzanine V Fund FCP-SIF Luxemburg 15,8 % 15 000 000

CapMan Technology Fund 2007 L.P. Guernsey 10,3 % 10 000 000

Conor Technology Fund I Ky Espoo 40,0 % 8 000 000

Conor Technology Fund II Ky Espoo 20,0 % 10 000 000

Creandum II LP Guernsey 10,4 % 5 000 277

Creandum III LP Guernsey 5,6 % 7 500 000

Creandum IV, L.P. Guernsey 4,4 % 8 000 000

DN Capital - Global Venture Capital III LP Jersey 2,1 % 3 000 000

EQT V (No. 1) Limited Partnership Guernsey 0,2 % 7 000 000

EQT Ventures (No. 1) SCSp Luxemburg 1,8 % 7 500 000

EQT VII (No. 1) Limited Partnership United Kingdom 0,4 % 15 000 000

Finnmezzanine Rahasto III A Ky Helsinki 9,9 % 10 000 000

Folmer Equity Fund II Ky Helsinki 16,2 % 10 000 000

FSN Capital IV L.P. Jersey 1,8 % 10 253 723

Holtron Capital Fund II Ky Helsinki 29,5 % 2 000 000

Industri Kapital 2000 Limited Partnership VII Jersey 5,7 % 10 000 000

Intera Fund I Ky Helsinki 8,0 % 10 000 000

Intera Fund III Ky Helsinki 8,0 % 20 000 000

Inveni Life Sciences Fund I Ky Helsinki 33,7 % 10 000 000

Inveni Secondaries Fund II Follow On Ky Helsinki 10,2 % 1 200 000

Inveni Secondaries Fund II Ky Helsinki 5,0 % 3 363 759

Inventure Fund II Ky Helsinki 11,5 % 8 000 000

Inventure Fund III Ky Helsinki 9,0 % 10 000 000

Inventure Fund Ky Helsinki 24,2 % 9 850 000

4.1 VENTURE CAPITAL AND PRIVATE EQUITY FUNDS  
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COMPANY DOMICILE OWNERSHIP %
ORIGINAL INVESTMENT 

COMMITMENT EUR

Juuri Rahasto I Ky Helsinki 6,1 % 5 000 000

K III Denmark K/S Denmark 22,7 % 10 000 000

Kasvurahastojen Rahasto Ky Helsinki 40,0 % 54 000 000

Kasvurahastojen Rahasto II Ky Helsinki 46,2 % 60 000 000

Kasvurahastojen Rahasto III Ky Helsinki 40,0 % 60 000 000

Life Sciences Partners III B.V. Netherlands 13,8 % 10 000 000

Life Sciences Partners IV B.V. Netherlands 21,8 % 10 000 000

Life Sciences Partners V C.V. Netherlands 2,0 % 5 000 000

Lifeline Ventures Fund I Ky Helsinki 10,4 % 3 000 000

Lifeline Ventures Fund III Ky Helsinki 17,5 % 10 000 000

Litorina IV L.P. Jersey 3,7 % 9 928 728

LSP Health Economics Fund 2 C.V. Netherlands 5,3 % 10 000 000

MB Equity Fund Ky Helsinki 17,4 % 2 522 819

MB Equity Fund IV Ky Helsinki 3,9 % 10 000 000

MB Equity Fund V Ky Helsinki 6,3 % 15 000 000 

Midinvest Fund II Ky Jyväskylä 25,6 % 15 000 000

Midinvest Fund PH I Ky Lahti 25,0 % 3 000 000

MVM IV LP United Kingdom 3,4 % 6 627 198

Nest Capital 2015 Fund Ky Helsinki 10,0 % 10 000 000

NEXIT Infocom 2000 Fund LP Guernsey 6,1 % 3 333 333

Nexit Infocom II L.P. Guernsey 17,6 % 15 000 000

Northzone VI L.P. Jersey 5,8 % 7 500 000

Northzone VII L.P. Jersey 3,0 % 7 500 000

Northzone VIII L.P. Jersey 2,9 % 10 000 000

Norvestor VI L.P. Guernsey 3,7 % 14 135 184

Open Ocean Fund 2015 Ky Espoo 6,3 % 5 000 000

Open Ocean Fund Three Ky Espoo 11,2 % 5 000 000

Polaris Private Equity III K/S Denmark 2,8 % 10 075 905

Polaris Private Equity IV K/S Denmark 2,3 % 10 054 024

Power Fund I Ky Vaasa 29,6 % 5 000 000

Power Fund II Ky Vaasa 23,9 % 15 000 000

Power Fund III Ky Vaasa 13,0 % 10 000 000

Seedcap Ky Espoo 37,8 % 5 000 000

Sentica Buyout III Ky Helsinki 13,0 % 15 000 000

Sentica Buyout IV Ky Helsinki 8,0 % 10 000 000

Sentica Buyout V Ky Helsinki 8,1 % 15 000 000

Sentica Kasvurahasto II Ky Helsinki 23,7 % 10 000 000

Sponsor Fund III Ky Helsinki 5,7 % 10 000 000

Sponsor Fund IV Ky Helsinki 5,0 % 10 000 000

Sunstone Technology Ventures II K/S Denmark 7,5 % 7 044 897
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COMPANY DOMICILE OWNERSHIP %
ORIGINAL INVESTMENT 

COMMITMENT EUR

Teknoventure Rahasto III Ky Oulu 46,8 % 7 500 000

Vaaka Partners Buyout I Ky Helsinki 19,7 % 10 000 000

Vaaka Partners Buyout Fund II Ky Helsinki 6,t7 % 10 000 000

Vaaka Partners Buyout Fund III Ky Helsinki 5,3 % 12 000 000

Wedeco Fund IV Ky Vaasa 45,3 % 5 000 000

Vendep Capital Fund II Ky Helsinki 23,1 % 7 500 000

Verdane Capital VII K/S Denmark 7,2 % 9 963 317

Verdane Capital VIII K/S Denmark 3,0 % 6 860 750

Verdane Capital IX (E) AB Sweden 5,7 % 9 797 657

Verdane NVP II SPV K/S Denmark 8,5 % 10 000 000

Verso Fund II Ky Helsinki 9,9 % 5 000 000

VisionPlus Fund I Ky Helsinki 9,9 % 5 000 000

Nordic fund*) 18,8 % 10 158 679

926 922 555

*) Fund details to be published after final closing of fund.       
Under the provisions of Chapter 2:9 Section 2:9 paragraph 3 of Finland’s Accounting Ordinance, some of the information 
(funds’ financial statements) referred to in paragraph 1 of Chapter 2 Section 9 is not presented.         
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COMPANY OWNERSHIP %

3 Step IT Group Oy 7,2 %

Aidon Oy 17,3 %

Aker Arctic Technology Oy * 66,4 %

BC Platforms AG 9,5 %

BCBM Holding Oy 25,5 %

BMH Technology Oy 25,3 %

Bookit Oy 2,4 %

Cavitar Oy 25,1 %

Coronaria Oy 6,6 %

Den Family Oy 9,6 %

Enevo Oy 23,4 %

Ferrovan Oy * -

Forenom Group Oy 15,7 %

Keliber Oy * 17,5 %

Kotkamills Group Oyj * 9,6 %

Lamor Corporation Ab 10,1 %

LeadDesk Oy 4,1 %

MariaDB Corporation Ab 5,9 %

Mekitec Oy 33,8 %

MetGen Oy 15,7 %

M-Files Oy 13,0 %

Midaxo Oy 16,8 %

MultiTaction Oy 20,1 %

NewIcon Oy 11,2 %

nLight Photonics Corporation 0,5 %

Onbone Oy 6,5 %

Optomed Oy 10,3 %

Pesmel Oy 4,9 %

Profit Holding Oy 30,3 %

Rauma Marine Constructions Oy * 20,5 %

Sotkamo Silver Ab 2,3 %

Stella Care Oy 17,3 %

Suomen VAKA-palvelut I Oy (Touhula) 3,6 %

Suomen VAKA-palvelut II Oy (Touhula) -

Talenom Oyj 5,1 %

Thirdpresence Oy 22,7 %

Unisport-Saltex Group Oy 11,4 %

Ursviken Group Oy 24,6 %

Vaadin Oy 19,7 %

Valmet Automotive Oy 37,0 %

Verto Analytics Oy 9,4 %

Vexve Holding Oy -

4.2 DIRECT INVESTMENTS 

*) Ownership through Tesi Industrial Management Oy     
More information about venture capital and private equity investments can be found on Tesi’s website: www.tesi.fi 
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EUR THOUSANDS 1 JAN–31 DEC 2017 1 JAN–31 DEC 2016

Venture capital and private equity funds

Venture capital 26 995 12 022

Later stage 21 407 11 731

Funds of funds 4 960 3 817

Direct venture capital and private equity investments

Venture capital 4 254 1 506

Later stage 11 132 16 554

Total 68 748 45 631

Net gains from venture capital and private equity  
investments consist of changes in fair value:

Realised 43 010 20 958

Unrealised 25 738 24 673

Total 68 748 45 631

5. Net gains from venture capital  
and private equity investments 

Net gains from venture capital and private equity investments comprise realised and unrealised changes in fair value,  
including interest income and dividend income from direct investments. 
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EUR THOUSANDS 1 JAN–31 DEC 2017 1 JAN–31 DEC 2016

Audit fees 24 35

Tax advice 3 4

Other fees 7

Total 27 46

7. Other operating expenses 

Other operating expenses include auditors’ fees by type of services provided: 

EUR THOUSANDS 1 JAN–31 DEC 2017 1 JAN–31 DEC 2016

Salaries and fees 3 662 3 808

Pension expenses 684 693

Other personnel expenses 124 236

Total 4 470 4 737

1 JAN–31 DEC 2017 1 JAN–31 DEC 2016

Average number of personnel employed by  
the company during the financial year 32 34

EUR THOUSANDS 1 JAN–31 DEC 2017 1 JAN–31 DEC 2016

Salaries and fees of key management

Board of Directors 132 146

CEO 315 288

Management Group 1 191 1 347

6. Employee benefit costs 

The remunerations paid to the members of the Board of 

Directors of parent company Finnish Industry Investment 

Ltd are decided by the Annual General Meeting (AGM). The 

company’s AGM held on 1 March 2017 decided on the fol-

lowing monthly amounts: Chairman of the Board: €1,500; 

Deputy Chairman of the Board: €850, and other members 

of the Board: €700; and in addition to the monthly remu-

neration, all members: €500 per meeting, for meetings of 

the Board of Directors and for meetings of committees 

appointed by the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors decides on the remuneration 

principles, total pay and bonus scheme for the CEO and 

other members of the of the parent company’s Manage-

ment Group. The Management Group comprised the Presi-

dent & CEO and on average five other members during the 

financial year. All the company’s personnel were included in 

the bonus scheme during 2017. 

The pension plan for the CEO complies with the Finnish 

Employee Pension Act. The CEO has a six-month period of 

notice, whereafter he is, under certain conditions, entitled to 

a reimbursement equivalent to 6 months’ salary. 

 

The Management Group’s salaries and fees also include those of the CEO and his deputy. 
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EUR THOUSANDS 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Accounts payable 240 415

Accruals relating to employee benefits 1 358 1 716

Tax liabilities 9 873 0

Other 117 515

Total 11 588 2 646

10. Current liabilities

9. Tangible and intangible assets 
   

The carrying amount of tangible and intangible assets at 

31 December 2017 was 817 thousand euros (517 thousand 

euros at 31 December 2016). The additions of 528 thousand 

euros in 2017 mainly comprised expenses associated with 

renovation and furnishing of the new office. Depreciation 

and amortisation charged according to plan for 2017 was 

228 thousand euros (139 thousand euros).  

EUR THOUSANDS 1 JAN–31 DEC 2017 1 JAN–31 DEC 2016

Current income tax for the financial year -12 089 0

Adjustments relating to previous years 0 -437

Deferred taxes (Note 11):

Temporary differences originated and reversed -2 297 -10 164

Income tax presented in the income statement -14 387 -10 601

Reconciliation between income tax expense and tax calculated at the domestic tax rate of 20%.

EUR THOUSANDS 1 JAN–31 DEC 2017 1 JAN–31 DEC 2016

Profit before taxes 80 056 55 202

Tax calculated at domestic tax rate -16 011 -11 040

Income not subject to tax 1 472 868

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes -2 -1

Difference between net income from venture capital  
and private equity funds and taxable income

60 9

Use of losses not previously offset against taxes 94 0

Adjustments relating to previous years 0 -437

Income tax presented in the income statement -14 387 -10 601

8. Income taxes
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EUR THOUSANDS 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

During the year 311 396

Within 1-5 years 1 613 1 818

Later than 5 years 0 268

Total 1 924 2 481

Outstanding commitments at end of year

EUR THOUSANDS 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Fund investments 357 265 304 744

Portfolio companies 10 166 752

Total 367 431 305 496

12. Commitments 
     

Minimun lease payments based on non-cancellable leases are as follows: 

EUR THOUSANDS

Changes in fair 
values of venture 

capital and private 
equity funds

Changes in fair 
values of direct 

investments

Changes in  
fair values  

of financial  
securities Other items Total

Deferred tax assets

1.1.2016 3 134 8 666 517 7 12 324

Recognised in  
income statement

-1 140 -3 756 -258 72 -5 083

31.12.2016 1 994 4 910 259 79 7 241

Recognised in  
income statement

-638 1 324 -184 -71 431

31.12.2017 1 356 6 234 75 8 7 672

11. Deferred taxes 

EUR THOUSANDS

Changes in fair 
values of venture 

capital and private 
equity funds

Changes in fair 
values of direct 

investments

Changes in  
fair values  

of financial  
securities Total

Deferred tax liabilities

1.1.2016 13 508 6 688 2 573 22 769

Recognised in income statement 670 3 359 1 052 5 081

31.12.2016 14 179 10 047 3 624 27 849

Recognised in income statement 3 583 -396 -459 2 729

31.12.2017 17 761 9 651 3 165 30 578
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14. Subsidiaries     
     

The following table presents the parent company and companies in which the group has control at 31 December 2017:  
    

Afte the end of the financial year, Tesi gave one invest-

ment commitment to a Finnish growth fund (details to be 

published later) and also made direct investments in Viria 

and Zervant. 

PARENT
Country of  
registration

Nature of  
business 

Holding by the 
parent (%)

Holding by  
the Group (%)

Treatment in con-
solidated financial 
statements

Finnish Industry Investment Ltd Finland
Venture capital  
and private equity 
investment

SUBSIDIARIES

Start Fund Management Oy Finland Management company 100 % 100 % Consolidated

Tesi Fund Management Oy Finland Management company 100 % 100 % Consolidated

Tesi Industrial Management Oy Finland
Venture capital  
and private equity 
investment

100 % 100 %
At fair value through 
profit or loss

Aker Arctic Technology Oy Finland 1) 66,4 % 66,4 %
At fair value through 
profit or loss

Aker Arctic Canada Inc Canada 1) 66,4 %
At fair value through 
profit or loss

Aker Arctic Technology LLC Russia 1) 66,4 %
At fair value through 
profit or loss

 1) Company specialises in the design of and technical consultation for icebreakers and other ships operating in the Arctic areas.

15. Events after the financial year

Related parties of the group comprise the parent company 

and its subsidiaries and associates. Related parties also  

comprise the members of the Board of Directors, CEO and 

other members of the Management Group. Salaries and 

fees of management are disclosed in note 6. Employee 

benefit costs.    

Transactions with related parties:   

•  Finnish Industry Investment Ltd has charged a con-

sulting fee from Tesi Fund Management Oy amount-

ing to 319 thousand euros in 2017 (315 thousand 

euros in 2016). 

Furthermore, Finnish Industry Investment Ltd has invest-

ment commitments of 1,667 thousand euros to Tesi Indus-

trial Management Oy. as at 31 December 2017. 

13. Related parties  
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OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of Suomen Teolli-

suussijoitus Oy (business identity code  

1007806-3) for the year ended 31 December, 2017. The 

financial statements comprise the consolidated balance 

sheet, statement of comprehensive income, statement of 

changes in equity, statement of cash flows and notes, in-

cluding a summary of significant accounting policies, as well 

as the parent company’s balance sheet, income statement, 

statement of cash flows and notes.

In our opinion

•  the consolidated financial statements give a true and 

fair view of the group’s financial position, financial per-

formance and cash flows in accordance with Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted 

by the EU

•  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 

parent company’s financial performance and financial 

position in accordance with the laws and regulations 

governing the preparation of financial statements in 

Finland and comply with statutory requirements.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing 

practice in Finland. Our responsibilities under good auditing 

practice are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibili-

ties for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 

report.

We are independent of the parent company and of the 

group companies in accordance with the ethical require-

ments that are applicable in Finland and are relevant to our 

audit, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 

in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS AND THE MANAGING DIRECTOR FOR 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 

responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted 

by the EU, and of financial statements that give a true and 

fair view in accordance with the laws and regulations gov-

erning the preparation of financial statements in Finland and 

comply with statutory requirements. The Board of Directors 

and the Managing Director are also responsible for such 

internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of financial statements that are free from mate-

rial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Direc-

tors and the Managing Director are responsible for assessing 

the parent company’s and the group’s ability to continue 

as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating 

to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting. The financial statements are prepared using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless there is an inten-

tion to liquidate the parent company or the group or cease 

operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT  
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance on 

whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 

issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Rea-

sonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with good 

auditing practice will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the eco-

nomic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with good auditing 

practice, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or er-

ror, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 

risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 

Auditor’s Report

TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SUOMEN TEOLLISUUSSIJOITUS OY
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

This document is an English translation of the Finnish auditor’s 
report. Only the Finnish version of the report is legally binding.
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from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of inter-

nal control.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 

to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the parent company’s or the group’s internal control. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management.

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of 

Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the going 

concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast sig-

nificant doubt on the parent company’s or the group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 

that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 

draw attention in our auditor’s report to the relat-

ed disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 

up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 

events or conditions may cause the parent company 

or the group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 

of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events so that the financial 

statements give a true and fair view.

•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 

the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the group to express an opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the 

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance 

regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 

any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identi-

fy during our audit.

OTHER REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

Other Information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 

responsible for the other information. The other informa-

tion that we have obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 

report is the report of the Board of Directors.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 

the other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 

our responsibility is to read the other information and, in do-

ing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. With respect to the report of the Board of Direc-

tors, our responsibility also includes considering whether 

the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in 

accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

In our opinion, the information in the report of the Board 

of Directors is consistent with the information in the finan-

cial statements and the report of the Board of Directors has 

been prepared in accordance with the applicable laws and 

regulations.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other 

information that we obtained prior to the date of this audi-

tor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstate-

ment of this other information, we are required to report 

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Helsinki 15 February 2018

JUHA-PEKKA MYLÉN 

Juha-Pekka Mylén, 

Authorised Public Accountant, KHT
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